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PREFACE 

This third part of The U.S. Government and the Vietnam War—a 
study of policymaking during thirty years of U.S. involvement, 1945-
1975—covers the watershed period from the decisions in February-
March 1965 to launch the air war against the Democratic Republic 
of Vietnam (North Vietnam) and to begin sending U.S. ground forces 
to the Republic of Vietnam (South Vietnam), to the decision of Pres­
ident Lyndon B. Johnson in July 1965 to commit United States 
ground forces to defend South Vietnam. "We did not choose to be the 
guardians at the gate," he announced on July 28, "but there is no one 
else. . . . We will stand in Vietnam." 

Following a brief review in chapter 1 of the developments in 1964 
that affected the choices made in 1965, including approval by the 
President in early December 1964 of a two-stage plan for "measured" 
military pressure against North Vietnam, the study discusses the de­
velopments in 1965 that culminated in the decision to use large-scale 
U.S. forces. 

On January 26, 1965, amid signs of a growing threat from the 
Communists, another coup took place in Saigon as Nguyen Khanh, 
the head of the Armed Forces Council that effectively controlled the 
government, and his supporters, backed by the Buddhists, voted to 
remove the civilian Premier, Tran Van Huong. The United States 
had been supporting Huong, and U.S. officials were concerned that 
Khanh, who at the time was not considered a reliable ally, was pre­
paring, with the Buddhists, to move toward neutralization or nego­
tiations with the Communists. There was considerable support from 
the U.S. Mission in Saigon and within the Far East Bureau of the 
State Department for replacing Khanh, but the reaction of President 
Johnson (who had opposed the U.S.-supported coup against South 
Vietnamese President Ngo Dinh Diem in 1963), was to continue 
supporting Khanh rather than to risk creating an even more un­
stable political situation. 

On January 27, McGeorge Bundy, the President's National Secu­
rity Adviser, and Secretary of Defense Robert S. McNamara sent the 
President a memorandum urging him to use American power "to 
force a change of Communist policy," and at a meeting with them and 
Secretary of State Dean Rusk the President said that after U.S. de­
pendents were removed from Vietnam, "stable government or no 
stable government we'll do what we ought to do. ... We will move 
strongly" (emphasis in original). 

At the meeting it was agreed that McGreorge Bundy and a small 
group would visit South Vietnam for a report on the situation. 

On February 7, 1965, just before Bundy and his group returned to 
Washington, the Communists attacked a U.S. base at Pleiku. The 
U.S. Mission in Saigon as well as Bundy and his group recommended 
retaliation, and the President, after a meeting with advisers that in­
cluded key leaders of Congress, approved U.S. bombing strikes on 
North Vietnam. 
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In his report on the trip, Bundy said that "the international pres­
tige of the United States, and a substantial part of our influence, are 
directly at risk in Vietnam." The situation was deteriorating, he said, 
and unless the U.S. acted, "defeat appears inevitable." A negotiated 
withdrawal would mean "surrender on the installment plan. 

Bundy stressed the need to demonstrate that the U.S. had the "will 
and force and patience and determination to take the necessary ac­
tion and stay the course." He recommended that the U.S. should be-

Sn "sustained reprisal" against the North, both to affect the will of 
anoi, and, more importantly, to affect the will of the Communists 

in the South, and to boost the morale of the South Vietnamese. 
Toward the middle of February 1965, the President decided to be­

gin Phase II ("sustained reprisal") and approved a continuing pro-

tram of bombing North Vietnam. Khanh was persuaded to step 
own, and the U.S., which had deferred acting until Khanh had been 

replaced, began regular bombing of the North. A few days later, the 
President also approved the deployment of a Marine combat unit, the 
first U.S. ground forces to be sent to South Vietnam, despite objec­
tions from Ambassador Maxwell D. Taylor. 

In mid-March 1965, the President sent Greneral Harold K. John­
son, U.S. Army Chief of Staff, to meet with Taylor and the U.S. Com­
mander in Vietnam, General William C. Westmoreland, and to tell 
them that he was "prepared to act immediately and favorably on any 
recommendations" which they and General Johnson made. 

While General Johnson was in Vietnam, McGeorge Bundy, after 
meeting with Rusk and McNamara, told the President the three of 
them agreed that "... the brutal fact is that we have been losing 
ground at an increasing rate in the countryside in January and Feb­
ruary," and that "every conceivable effort" needed to be made in the 
pacification program. For the first time, Bundy said, McNamara ex­
pressed the opinion that the military had been "going at this thing 
the wrong way round ... they have been concentrating on military 
results against guerrillas in the field, when they should have been 
concentrating on intense police control from the individual village on 
up." 

Bundy also reported that he, Rusk, and McNamara agreed on the 
need to explore, despite Taylor's objection, the possibility of sending 
a large allied force to the central highlands (an area in the midsec­
tion of South Vietnam) as a show of force that could act as a deter­
rent. 

In a meeting with the three advisers several days later, the Presi­
dent commented that although others had favored the idea of using 
U.S. forces more strongly than he had, ". . . I did cross bridge in my 
own mind in December" (emphasis in original). But, he said, "If you 
can show me any reasonable out I'll grab it." 

He continued (as recorded by McGeorge Bundy in informal notes): 
To give in = another Munich. 

if not here—then Thailand. 
Come hell or high water, we're gonna stay there. 

In his report a few days later on his trip to Vietnam, General John­
son said that "time is running out swiftly in Vietnam," and recom­
mended that a U.S. combat division be deployed to the central high­
lands and that an international or all-U.S. force of four divisions be 
sent to the area around the demilitarized zone between North and 



South Vietnam. In addition, he recommended twenty-one other steps 
"to arrest the deterioration." 

On March 15, 1965, the President met with General Johnson, and 
although there apparently are no notes of that meeting, according to 
General Andrew J. Goodpaster (who was then assistant to the Chair­
man of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, and had been with General Johnson 
on the trip), General Johnson told the President that it could take 
500,000 men and five years to win the war. 

The President approved General Johnson's twenty-one recommen­
dations, but apparently did not at that time explicitly approve the 
recommendation for U.S. combat troops. 

A month later, however, after General Westmoreland and the JCS 
had requested two divisions of U.S. troops, and amid reports that a 
North Vietnamese battalion had moved into the central highlands, 
the President (again over the objections of Ambassador Taylor) ap­
proved requests for additional U.S. ground combat forces. This in­
creased the number of troops approved for deployment to Vietnam 
from 65,700 (there had been about 20,000 in the U.S. military advi­
sory group at the beginning of 1965) to 82,000. He also approved lim­
ited use οι U.S. forces in direct combat against Communist forces, but 
directed that this be kept secret. 

Although the news media carried stories on these developments, 
some of which were quite accurate and complete, Congress was given 
very little information, and there were renewed questions from the 
Foreign Relations Committee about consultation with Congress be­
fore escalating the conflict. 

Faced with growing congressional and public discontent—the first 
Vietnam protest march in Washington took place in mid-April 
1965—the White House began to organize a publicity campaign, and 
the President, rather than moving toward greater consultation, sent 
Congress a request for a special appropriation for Vietnam with the 
statement that the approval of the request would constitute approval 
of U.S. policy. A number of members complained about this proce­
dure and stated that in voting for the bill they were not approving 
U.S. policy; but the bill passed quickly, with only seven dissenting 
votes in the House and three in the Senate. 

On June 7,1965, General Westmoreland requested additional U.S. 
forces "to take the war to the enemy": 100,000 troops immediately, 
with more to follow. The President's principal advisers (with the ex­
ception of Under Secretair of State George W. Ball) supported the 
idea; however, William P. Bundy, Assistant Secretary of State for the 
Far East, favored holding the line at approximately 100,000 troops 
(about 18,000 more than were then authorized) until the end of tne 
monsoon season (October), and then taking stock again. After several 
weeks of discussion, during which the President continued to approve 
the deployment of additional combat units, McNamara was again 
sent to Vietnam in mid-July, and in his report he recommended ap­
proval of Westmoreland's request. The situation in South Vietnam 
was critical, McNamara said, and more U.S. and other outside forces 
were needed to prevent a Communist victory. 

The President then spent the week of July 21-28, 1965, discussing 
the report with his advisers. Although he apparently already decided 
to approve Westmoreland's request, several important questions 
were still being considered. Would the Communists wage primarily 



a guerrilla war for which U.S. forces might not be well suited? Yes, 
said the intelligence community (the CIA and the intelligence offices 
in the other agencies and departments), but McNamara and the mil­
itary took the position that harassment by U.S. troops would force 
the Communists "to come out and fight," and even if they did not, 
that "U.S. forces can engage guerrillas as well as the main force 
units." Rusk also thought that if the Communists were forced to fight 
a guerrilla war this would have the advantage of "removing their 
capability" to use main forces. 

If the U.S. added more men, would the Communists do the same? 
Yes, the intelligence community said. Yes, the military also said, but 
they argued that North Vietnam could not match the U.S. buildup; 
therefore the escalation of U.S. forces would "turn the tide," and 
"sooner or later we will force them to the conference table." 

Could the U.S. "win"? The President and his associates, as well as 
various defense strategists, apparently assumed that there would be 
a "breaking point" at which the Communists would yield. A JCS 
study on the question, "Can we win if we do everything we 
can? concluded that under certain stated assumptions about the be­
havior of other parties to the conflict, the U.S. could "win if such is 
our will—and if that will is manifested in strategy and tactical op­
erations." ("Winning" was defined as the achievement of a state of 
affairs between on the one hand, an end to the insurgency, and, on 
the other, containment of the insurgency without the need for further 
involvement of "substantial" U.S. forces.) 

Was the government of Vietnam strong enough to do its part? 
McNamara doubted whether the South Vietnamese government, 
which he called a "nongovernment," could "push forward with any 
major program." Henry Cabot Lodge, the new U.S. ambassador to 
Vietnam, who had held the same post in the Kennedy administra­
tion, said: "If the area is important to us, we must do what is neces­
sary regardless of the Government." 

How much would the war cost? McNamara estimated that it would 
cost $12 billion in 1966, and add only one or two points to the cost-
of-living index. In actuality, it cost $25 billion in 1966, and added six 
points to the cost-of-living index in 1966 alone. 

Would the public, the President asked his advisers, support a war 
that might require "600,000 people and billions of dollars spent 
10,000 miles away"? The only answer on record was that a Gallup 
poll indicated public support for the U.S. "commitment." According 
to McGeorge Bundy, "The country is in a mood to accept grim news. 
(In a meeting in Washington on July 8-9, 1965, a group of sixteen Erominent American leaders, the "Wise Men," who had been asked 

y the President for their advice, replied that the "stakes were very 
high indeed," and that the President should send whatever addi­
tional combat forces were required to prevent the Communists from 
taking control of South Vietnam.) 

During the meetings of July 21-28, the President told his associ­
ates he regretted that the U.S. was involved in the war, but "we are 
there," he said, and he could see no choice other than to approve the 
request for more forces. At the same time, he stressed the need for 
vigorous diplomatic efforts to end the war, apparently assuming that 
a military victory was unlikely and that, after the Communists were 



convinced that they could not win, they would cease fighting and 
there would be some kind of political settlement. 

Rusk stressed the importance of U.S. credibility, especially with 
the Russians and the Chinese. "It would be dangerous," he said, "if 
the Communist leadership became convinced that we will not see 
this through." 

On July 28, 1965, the President announced that 50,000 more U.S. 
forces would be sent to Vietnam, but that he would not call up the 
Reserves as recommended by McNamara. Additional forces would be 
needed later, he said, and they would be sent as requested. 

Although this was a decision to go to war, it was not treated as 
such by the President, both to avoid arousing Congress and thepub-
Iic—the President especially wanted to protect his domestic "Great 
Society" program—and to keep from creating the impression of a cri­
sis that might excite the Communists as well as U.S. allies and lead 
to an escalation of the war that might hamper the prospects for a 
diplomatic solution. A declaration of war did not appear to be neces­
sary, and it was argued, especially by the Justice Department, that 
the existing Gulf of Tonkin Resolution constituted whatever congres­
sional approval was needed. Although there was some consideration 
of a new resolution, which would more clearly authorize large-scale 
U.S. military action, the Majority Leader of the Senate, Mike Mans­
field (D/Mont.), who opposed the war, warned the President that a 
request for a new resolution could result in a debate that would ad­
versely affect presidential leadership and programs. 

There was very little public or congressional reaction to the Presi­
dent's decision. According to a Gallup poll, 61 percent of the public 
supported the decision. In Congress, several senators and at least 
twenty-five representatives indicated their opposition, but, with the 
exception of Senator Mansfield, the elected Democratic and Republi­
can leaders of the House and the Senate supported the decision in a 
meeting with the President on July 27. There was however, a strong 
undercurrent of opposition among five of the most respected senior 
members of the Senate in a private meeting that day with Senator 
Mansfield, at which, as Mansfield reported to the President, the 
group felt that "we are deeply enmeshed in a place where we ought 
not to be; that the situation is rapidly going out of control; and that 
every effort should be made to extricate ourselves." 

Although this third part of The U S. Government and the Vietnam 
War is based on extensive research (including a number of docu­
ments that were declassified at the author's request) and hopefully is 
accurate in most respects, many important documents remain clas­
sified or unprocessed and classified. They are releasable only at a 
fixed date in the future, or, in the case of congressional materials, 
inaccessible until some future date. Several important collections of 
documents, including the papers of Presidential Assistant Bill Moy-
ers, have been retained by the individuals in question and have not 
been made available for research. In several cases, most notably that 
of Dean Rusk, documents that could be very valuable in the study of 
fiplicymaking have been destroyed. According to Rusk (in Interview 
, July 28, 1969, for the Johnson Library), each participant in the 

small group "Tuesday Lunch" meetings with the President "took 
notes on decisions made on matters for which we were responsible 
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and went back to our departments and put them into effect." Rusk's 
notes apparently are not contained in the classified files of the State 
Department, however. Dr. John Glennon, the editor-in-chief of the 
department's historical series, says that State Department historians 
have not found these notes during their research. According to 
Rusk's associate, Thomas J. Schoenbaum (Waging War and Peace, 
New York: Simon and Schuster, 1988, p. 12), when Rusk left the 
State Department he "systematically destroyed records of confiden­
tial conversations with Presidents Kennedy and Johnson." Presum­
ably this included notes of Tuesday lunches. It is not known whether 
other participants in the Tuesday lunches made notes of those meet­
ings and, if so, whether these have been retained. 

Notes of many of the Tuesday lunches, especially in 1967-1968, 
were taken by the President's press secretary, Tom Johnson, but 
most of these have not yet been made available by Mr. Johnson. 

Documentation of other presidential meetings and of the thoughts 
and actions of the President is also lacking or inadequate. In part, 
this is due to Lyndon Johnson's penchant for talking rather than 
writing, and for private conversations and unrecorded small group 
meetings. Because of the President's concern for maintaining maxi­
mum security of information and decisions, records of his meetings 
and conversations were, except for the formal NSC meetings, fre­
quently unsystematic, informal, or nonexistent. Those notes that 
were taken are generally desultory and incomplete, and two sets of 
notes on the same meeting can be different, inconsistent, or contra­
dictory. As Dr. David C. Humphrey, Senior Archivist at the Lyndon 
B. Johnson Library, explained in his interesting and informative ar­
ticle, "Searching for LBJ at the Johnson Library" CNewsletter of the 
Society for Historians of American Foreign Relations, June 1989), 
"... meeting notes must be used with care. They may be extremely 
useful in revealing patterns in the president's interaction with his 
advisers, for instance, but one should not pin too much on the exact 
wording of a particular statement or claim unequivocally, based on 
the notes, that an issue was not raised or that an individual did not 
speak." 

One of the most useful sources of information is the collection of 
informal handwritten notes that was kept by McGreorge Bundy of 
meetings with the President, including some of the Tuesday lunches 
in 1965-1966. In a number of cases, including several important 
meetings at which key decisions on Vietnam were made, these ap­
parently are the only notes that were taken. (Readers will observe 
the frequent use of the word "apparently" in this volume, especially 
in relation to notes of meetings, to indicate that documents may exist 
that, although presently unavailable, may some day provide addi­
tional information.) David Humphrey has said that while some­
times sketchy and fragmentary, the [McGeorge Bundy ] notes capture 
more fully than formal notes the flavor of the president's comments, 
questions, and concerns." Here again, however, these notes must also 
be viewed cautiously and used with care. They were kept by Mc-
George Bundy for his own use, and, among other limitations, were 
not intended to convey a full sense of the meeting or to record com­
ments except those that Bundy decided to jot down. 

In historical research based on extensive use of written materials 
there is also the problem of giving greater attention to the views and 



roles of those persons or groups who were the most prolific producers 
of documentary material and less attention to the views and roles of 
those who frequently communicated their positions orally and pri­
vately in unrecorded conversations, or who have, as in Rusk's case, 
seen fit to destroy records of such communication. Preserving the 
writings and oral histories of participants in policymaking, as well 
as manuscript reviews by such participants, can help to some degree 
in avoiding the pitfalls this problem presents; but, at best, it remains 
a problem. 

There is also the question of how much attention and weight one 
should give to the views of those who played lesser roles in policy­
making. Such views can be useful in indicating differences of opinion 
or judgment, as well as disagreements at various levels within the 
policymaking system. They also help to explain what views and in­
formation the more important policymakers were receiving from 
their associates, and give credit where it is due for insightful analy­
sis and accurate prediction, regardless of rank or position. It is im­
portant for the writer to acknowledge the context of this input in 
terms of the role and rank of the person in question, as well as the 
action undertaken and the results, if any, of the comment or recom­
mendation. 

A number of persons have contributed to this part of the study, 
including many of those who assisted with Parts I and II, and I would 
like to thank all of them for their help. The continued support of the 
Chairman of the Foreign Relations Committee, Senator Claiborne 
Pell, and of the Staff Director, Geryld B. Christianson, is deeply 
appreciated, as well as the very competent help of the committee s 
editor, Uwe Timpke. 

Special thanks also go to the former editor-in-chief of Princeton 
University Press, Sanford Thatcher, and his associates. 

Reviewers of Parts I and II who also examined this part were Mr. 
William P. Bundy, General Andrew J. Goodpaster, Ambassador 
U. Alexis Johnson, and Mr. Boyd Crawford. (For a brief description 
of their credentials, see the preface to Part I.) Other reviewers of this 
part were Norvill Jones, a staff member of the Senate Foreign Rela­
tions Committee in the 1960s and later its chief of staff; and Chester 
L. Cooper. (While serving in the Central Intelligence Agency, Cooper 
was a member of the U.S. delegation to the 1954 and the 1961-1962 
Geneva Conferences, after which he functioned as the principal as­
sistant for Asian Affairs in the National Security Council. In 1966 
he served as Special Assistant for Vietnam Negotiations to Ambas­
sador W. Averell Harriman.) 

Professor Fred Greenstein of Princeton University, who is the 
coauthor of an excellent new book that in part deals with the period 
covered in this volume (see page 1, note 1), also provided a very use­
ful review, as well as several documents, and I deeply appreciate his 
advice and assistance. 

At the Congressional Research Service, fecial thanks go to the 
Director, Joseph E. Ross; the Chief of the Foreign Affairs and Na­
tional Defense Division, Dr. Stanley Heginbotham, who was replaced 
by Dr. Robert G. Sutter; and section heads Robert L. Gktldicn and 
Charlotte P. Preece (now the Assistant Chief of the division), as well 
as the very able reviewer, Joan M. Davenport. 

George Mason University, where I am privileged to be a visiting 



professor, continues to make a substantial contribution to this proj­
ect, and I would especially like to thank Dr. Harold F. Gortner, Chair 
of the Public Affairs Department; Marv F. Blackwell, Coordinator of 
Office Support Services; and Michael T. Fish, Director of the Office 
for Research. 

A number of others have made important contributions, including 
Ambassador John R. Burke, Deputy Assistant Secretary of State, 
and those in his office who facilitated access to the department's files 
and who reviewed and processed material for declassification; Dr. 
John P. Glennon, Editor-in-Chief of the State Department's Foreign 
Relations series; W. M. McDonald, Director of Freedom of Informa­
tion and Security Review in the Department of Defense; historian 
Vincent H. Demma, in the U.S. Army's Center of Military History; 
and Col. Rod Paschall, Director of the U.S. Army's Military History 
Institute at Carlisle Barracks, Pennsylvania, and his associates. 

At the Lyndon B. Johnson Library, there was excellent support 
from Harry Middleton, Director; Tina Houston, Supervisory Archi­
vist; Dr. David Humphrey, Senior Archivist; and archivists Nancy 
Smith, Linda Hanson, and Regina Greenwell. David Humphrey's 
friendly guidance and assistance were also invaluable and greatly 
appreciated. 

Finally, I am verypleased to acknowledge once again the work of 
my assistant, Anne G. Bonanno, an Information Specialist in the Of­
fice of Support Services at George Mason University, who deserves 
major credit for the production of this part of the study, as well as of 
Parts I and II. She has been associated with the project from the be­
ginning, and her dedication and hard work, not to mention her re­
markable equanimity and good will, continue to be indispensable. 

Note: 
In Part I of this study, page 313, note 89, Professor Robert Scigli-

ano was erroneously identified as the author of an article in the De­
cember 11, 1966, New York Times Magazine, "We Cannot Accept a 
Communist Seizure of Vietnam" (the author of which was Professor 
Robert Scalipino), and it was also incorrectly stated that Professor 
Scigliano was a leader in the defense of U.S. involvement in the Viet­
nam War in the 1960s by the Michigan State University group. 
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CHAPTER 1 

INTRODUCTION: 1964, PROLOGUE TO WAR 

On November 3, 1963, the Premier of South Vietnam, Ngo Dinh 
Diem, was assassinated in a coup which had been fully encouraged 
and supported by the United States.1 A military junta, the Military 
Revolutionary Council, headed by Gen. Duong Van Minh, assumed 
power and appointed Diem's Vice Premier, Nguyen Ngoc Tho, as 
Premier. 

On November 22, 1963, President John F. Kennedy was assassi­
nated and was succeeded by Vice President Lyndon B. Johnson. In 
a meeting on Sunday, November 24, with Secretary of State Dean 
Rusk, Secretary of Defense Robert S. McNamara, U.S. Ambassador 
to South Vietnam Henry Cabot Lodge, Central Intelligence Agency 
(CIA) Director John A. McCone, Under Secretary of State George 
W. Ball, and Presidential Special Assistant for National Security 
Affairs McGeorge Bundy, President Johnson was told by Lodge 
that the change in the South Vietnamese Government had been an 
improvement, and "he thought by February or March [1964] we 
would see marked progress." 2 McCone said, however, that the 
CIA's estimate of the situation was "somewhat more serious," and 
he could not give a "particularly optimistic appraisal of the 
future." 

President Johnson said he "approached the situation with some 
misgivings." He noted that many people had questioned the over­
throw of Diem (Johnson himself had been strongly opposed to the 
U.S. decision to support a coup) and that "strong voices in Congress 
felt we should get out of Vietnam." But the coup was over, and "we 
have to see that our objectives are accomplished." 

1 For a more detailed discussion of 1963-1964, see pt. Π of this study. For significant works 
published since the publication of pt. II, see Ellen J. Hammer, A Death m November: America in 
Vietnam, 196S (New York: Dutton, 1987); George McT. Kahin, Intervention: How America 
Became Involved in Vietnam (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1986); Bui Diem, In the Jaws of Histo­
ry (Boston: Houghton, Mifflin, 1987); Thomas J. Schoenbaum, Waging Peace and Ifar.' Dean 
Rusk in the Truman, Kennedy, and Johnson Years (New York: Simon and Schuster, 1988); Larry 
Berman, The Planning of a Tragedy: The Americanization of the War in Vietnam (New York: 
W. W. Norton, 1983). 

See also the excellent forthcoming study by John P. Burke and Fred I. Greenstein, with the 
collaboration of Larry Berman and Richard Immerman, comparing and contrasting the han­
dling of Vietnam in 1954 by President Dwight D. Eisenhower and in 1965 by President ltfndon 
B. Johnson: How Presidents Test Reality: Decisions on Vietnam, 1954 and 1965 (New York: Russell 
Sage Foundation, 1989. 

Two volumes of It. B. Smith's pioneering study of the war from an international perspective 
have been published: An International History of the Vietnam War, vol. 1: Revolution versus 
Containment, 1955-61 (New York: St. Martin's Press, 1983), and vol. 2: The Kennedy Strategy 
(New York: St. Martin's Press, 1985). 

Also useful is Neil Sheehan's, A Bright Shining Lie: John Paul Vann and America in Viet­
nam (New York: Random House, 1988). 

2 Johnson Library, Meeting Notes File, "Memorandum for the Record, Subject: South Viet­
nam Situation," Nov. 25, 1963. This memorandum, the only known notes of the meeting on No­
vember 24, was prepared by the Director of Central Intelligence, John McCone, and was declas­
sified in 1985, subsequent to publication of pt. II of this study. 



McNamara said he had examined the economic situation and he 
felt that the U.S. should "give generously of economic aid," but 
"must not ask the South Vietnamese government to do the impos­
sible at this particular time." The President said he supported 
McNamara's position, "but at the same time he wanted to make it 
abundantly clear that he did not think we had to reform every 
Asian into our own image. . . . He was anxious to get along, win 
the war—he didn't want as much effort placed on so-called social 
reforms." 

"I received in this meeting the first 'President Johnson tone' for 
action as contrasted with the 'Kennedy tone,' " McCone observed in 
notes which he took at the meeting. Johnson definitely feels that 
we place too much emphasis on social reforms; he has very little 
tolerance with our spending so much time being 'do-
gooders'. . . ." 3 

Some years later, Presidential Special Assistant Bill D. Moyers 
recounted his conversation with the President after the meeting: 4 

Nov. 24, 1963. Lyndon Baines Johnson has been President 
barely two days. This Sunday afternoon he has spent with his 
national-security advisers, being briefed on South Vietnam by 
the United States ambassador to Saigon, Henry Cabot Lodge. 
Now the meetings are over, and the President, alone with an 
aide, is tilted back in the big chair behind the desk in the 
office he occupied for three years as Vice President. His feet 
are propped on the wastebasket and he is clinking the ice 
cubes in a pale-colored glass. 

"What did Lodge say?" the aide asks. 
"He says it's going to be hell in a handbasket out there." 
"What s happening?" 
"He says the army won't fight. Says the people don't know 

whose side to be on. If we don't do something, he says, it'll go 
under—any day." 

"So?" 
The President stares at his glass. "So they'll think with Ken­

nedy dead we've lost heart. So they'll think we're yellow and 
don t mean what we say." 

"Who?" 
"The Chinese. The fellas in the Kremlin. They'll be taking 

the measure of us. They'll be wondering just how far they can 
go." 

' What are you going to do." 
"I'm going to give those fellas out there the money they 

want. This crowd today says a hundred or so million will make 
the difference." 

"What did you say?" 
"I told them they got it—more if they need IfcHhtold them 

I'm not going to let Vietnam go the way of China. I told them 
to go back and tell those generals in Saigon that Lyndon John­
son intends to stand by our word, but Dy God, I want some­
thing for my money. I want 'em to get off their butts and get 

>η>μ 
4 Bill Moyersf 

uFlashbacke/' Newsweek, Feb. 10, 1975. In Moyers' account, as can be seen, 
Lodge is quoted as being much more pessimistic than in McCone's account. 



out in those jungles and whip hell out of some Communists. 
And then I want 'em to leave me alone, because I've got some 
bigger things to do right here at home." 

Ί hope they will," the aide replies. 
The President swivels back and forth in the chair, silent 

again. He is looking at the far corner of the high ceiling. Final­
ly, he answers, "So do I. But right now I feel like one of those 
catfish down in your and Lady Bird's country—down there 
around the old Taylor store." 

"How's that?" 
"I feel like I just grabbed a big juicy worm with a right 

sharp hook in the middle of it. . . . 
On November 26, 1963, President Johnson reaffirmed U.S. policy 

toward South Vietnam by approving National Security Action 
Memorandum (NSAM) 273, which stated in part: "It remains the 
central object of the United States in Vietnam to assist the people 
and Government of that country to win their contest against the 
externally directed and supported Communist conspiracy. 5 

In mid-December, McNamara and McCone, along with Willisun 
P. Bundy, Assistant Secretary of Defense for International Security 
Affairs, William E. Colby, former CIA Station Chief in Saigon who 
was then Chief of the Far East Division in the CIA's Directorate of 
Plans (covert operations),® and Gen. Victor H. Krulak, Joint Chiefs 
of Staff (JCS) Special Assistant for Counterinsurgency, went to 
Vietnam for a brief review of the situation. In a cable to Lodge, 
McNamara stressed the importance of receiving promptly from the 
country team (consisting of Lodge and the other top U.S. civilian 
and military officials in Saigon) their plans and recommendations 
for increased efforts to win the war, especially covert operations 
against North Vietnam by South Vietnamese forces in which U.S. 
forces would be used "as is necessary." "Plans for such operations," 
McNamara told Lodge, "should include varying levels of pressure 
all designed to make clear to the North Vietnamese that the US 
will not accept a Communist victory in South Vietnam and that we 
will escalate the conflict to whatever level is required to insure their 
defeat." 7 (emphasis added) 

In his report to the President on December 21, McNamara said, 
"The situation is very disturbing. Current trends, unless reversed 
in the next 2-3 months, will lead to neutralization at best and most 
likely to a Communist-controlled state." 8 

'Johnson Library, NSF National Security Action Memorandums. By approving NSAM 273, 
Johnson confirmed and continued the position taken by Presidents Harry S Truman, Eisenhow­
er, and Kennedy, that the U.S. should seek to prevent Communist control of Vietnam. For Tru­
man's position, see the National Security Council (NSC) policy paper approved on Apr. 24, 1950: 
NSC 64, "The Position of the United Statra With Respect to Indochina, and NSC 124, "United 
States Objectives and Courses of Action with Respect to Southeast Asia," June 25, 1952. For Ei­
senhower s position, see NSC 5405, Jan. 16,1954, with the same title as NSC 124, and NSC 5429, 
"Review of U.S. Policy in the Far East," Aug. 12, 1954. For Kennedy's position, see the NSC 
policy paper—which beginning with Kennedy was called National Security Action Memoran­
dum (NSAM)—NSAM 52, "Report of the Vietnam Task Force," May 11, 1961. All of these are 
discussed in pts. I and Π of this study. 

1 In 1973, the Directorate of Plans, which was also referred to as the Clandestine Service, 
became the Directorate of Operations. 

* Johnson Library, NSF Country File, Vietnam, McNamara to Lodge, DIASO-3 4783-63, Dec. 
12,1963. 
' The text of the report is in the Pentaeon Papers, Gravel ed„ vol. Ill, pp. 494-496 (hereafter 

cited as PP). This edition of the Pentagon Papers was published in 1971 in four volumes by the 
Beacon Press of Boston, based on material made available by Senator Mike Gravel (D/Alaska). 



At a meeting that day with McNamara, the President approved 
the recommendations in the report, and Genered Krulak was made 
chairman of an interdepartmental committee to draw up plans for 
covert operations against North Vietnam. 

In early January 1964, President Johnson approved the new 
covert operations plan, OPLAN 34-A, which by the use of "progres­
sively escalating pressure," would seek "to inflict increasing pun­
ishment upon North Vietnam and to create pressures, which may 
convince the North Vietnamese leadership, in its own self-interest, 
to desist from its aggressive policies." 9 

In late January 1964, there was a coup within the military junta, 
and Gen. Nguyen Kheuih became Premier. Gen. Duong Van Minh 
became the figurehead Chief of State. 

The worst fears of those who had opposed the coup against Diem 
were apparently being realized as the Communists, aided by the 
unstable political situation, were moving rapidly to strengthen 
their hold on the countryside. After a survey by a high-level team, 
the CIA reported in early February 1964 that the situation was, 
". . . very serious and prospects uncertain. Even with U.S. assist­
ance as it is now, we believe that, unless there is marked improve­
ment in the effectiveness of the South Vietnamese government and 
armed forces, South Vietnam has, at best, an even chance of with­
standing the insurgency menace during the next few weeks or 
months." 10 

Some U.S. officials, concerned that the U.S. would become more 
involved, and that this could lead to costly and ineffective military 
intervention, took the position that it was up to the South Viet­
namese to win the war and that the U.S. should avoid assuming 
further responsibility. One of these was Senator Richard B. Russell 
(D/Ga.), the powerful, highly-respected chairman of the Armed 
Services Committee, who had been Lyndon Johnson's mentor in 
the Senate. Russell, an opponent of U.S. involvement in Vietnam 
in the early 1950s, is reported to have told Johnson in late 1963, 
when the President asked him what he would do about Vietnam: 
"I'd spend whatever it takes to bring to power a government that 
would ask us to go home." 11 

Another was Senator Mike Mansfield (D/Mont.), the majority 
leader of the Senate (and former Senate majority whip when 
Lyndon Johnson was majority leader), a senior member of the 
Senate Foreign Relations Committee known for his knowledge and 
long experience with respect to Asia. In memoranda to the Presi­
dent on December 7, 1963 and January 7, 1964, Mansfield urged a 
"diplomatic offensive," with the help of the French, to reduce the 
conflict between South and North Vietneim "on terms which re­
duced our influence (and costs) provided it also inhibited Chinese 
political domination." 12 (emphasis in original) He said that Cam­
bodia, which considered itself neutral, was the "principal prototype 
of any eventual peace for Southeast Asia." The goal, he said, 

»Ibid., p. 151. 
10 Ibid., p. 41. 
11 Quoted by Tom Wicker, New York Times, May 1, 1966. 
12 Mansfield's memoranda of Dec. 7, 1963 and Jan. 7, 1964 are in the Johnson Library» NSF 

Aides Files, McGeorge Bundy Memos to the President. 



should be an "independent Southeast Asia, not dependent on a 
costly U.S. prop." 

Rusk, the President's principal foreign affairs adviser, as well as 
McNamara and McGreoige Bundy, disagreed with Mansfield's posi­
tion.13 Rusk called the proposal for neutralization "a phony," 
which would lead to a Ckimmunist takeover. Moreover, there could 
be a diplomatic settlement, he added, "only after the North Viet­
namese become convinced that they cannot destroy the Republic of 
Vietnam by guerrilla warfare." McNamara and Bundy agreed that 
neutralization would lead to Communist control, which in turn 
would seriously affect the rest of Southeast Asia and the U.S. posi­
tion in Asia and the world. McNamara said that "the stakes in pre­
serving an anti-Communist South Vietnam are so high that. . . we 
must go on bending every effort to win." Bundy said, "If we neu­
tralize, it should not be because we have quit but because others 
have." "The right course," he added, "is to continue to strengthen 
our struggle against the Communist terror. . . ." (emphasis in 
original) 

Althoiigh there is no record as to whether or what the President 
replied to Mansfield, he apparently agreed with his advisers (or 
they with him), and in a conversation with Mansfield's assistant he 
said, referring to the conquest of China by the Communists (which 
many Republicans had blamed on the Democrats), ". . . we do not 
want another China in Vietnam." 14 

On January 31, 1964, the day after the Khanh coup, President 
Charles de Gaulle of France again proposed a unified, independent 
Vietnam, and President Johnson replied that neutralization did not 
appear likely, and that the course the U.S. was following was "the 
only course for us to follow. . . . We plan to pursue it diligently 
and, we hope, successfully on a stepped-up basis." 18 

Stepping up U.S. actions in the war was, indeed, what the Presi­
dent was considering. The military, as Gen. Maxwell D. Taylor, 
Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, said in an important JCS 
memorandum on January 22, 1964, were urging "bolder actions 
which may embody greater risks." 16 Arguing that the key to con­
trolling the insurgency in the South was to stop its support by 
North Vietnam, the Chiefs proposed using South Vietnamese 
forces, as well as U.S. forces as necessary, in attacks on the North: 
bombardment by air, mining of harbors, commando raids against 
critical targets, and ground attacks across the Laotian border on 
the Communist supply line through Laos—the Ho Qii Minh Trail. 
They also proposed that the South Vietnamese should let the U.S. 
assume tactical direction of the war in the South, and that the U.S. 
commander should have full responsibility for all South Vietnam­
ese and U.S. operations against the North. 

Walt W. Rostow, Direcitor of the Policy Planning Council of the 
Department of State, who during the early Kennedy period had 
been heavily involved in Vietnamese matters while serving as a 
deputy to McGeorge Bundy and was an active proponent of a 

13 The memoranda from Rusk, McNamara and Bundy, which were sent to the President by 
Bundy on Jan. 9,1964, are in the Johnson Library, NSF Country File, Vietnam. 

14 Quoted in Mansfield's memorandum to the President, Jan. 7,1964. 
15 For further comments on de Gaulle's proposal, see pt. Π of this study, pp. 219-223. 
" PP, Gravel ed., vol. m, pp. 496-499. 



stronger U.S. role in Vietnam, also argued for bolder action in a 
memorandum to Secretary of State Rusk on February 13, 1964.17 

On February 18, 1964, the President directed that planning for 
additional actions in Vietnam should be stepped up, and that, 
"Particular attention should be given to shaping such pressures so 
as to produce the maximum credible deterrent effect on Hanoi." 18 

The result was a report from a State Department study group led 
by Robert H. Johnson, Rostow's deputy in Policy Planning (who, 
IUce Rostow, was also a former Kennedy NSC staff member work­
ing on Vietnam), under the general auspices of the newly-estab­
lished interdepartmental Vietnam Coordinating Committee chaired 
by William H. Sullivan, a veteran Foreign Service officer with ex­
tensive experience in dealing with Vietnam. Basing its analysis on 
the strategic concept that the North Vietnamese would be con­
cerned about destruction of their industrial achievements, as well 
as about whether possible Chinese help could lead to Chinese con­
trol, the study group said that there were five objectives of "meas­
ured pressure" against North Vietnam: "(1) induce North Vietnam 
to curtail its support of the Viet Cong in South Vietnam; (2) reduce 
the morale of the Viet Cong; (3) stiffen the Khanh government and 
discourage moves toward neutralism; (4) show the world that we 
will take strong measures to prevent the spread of communism; 
and (5) strengthen morale in Asia." 19 In addition, pressure on the 
North could improve the U.S. negotiating position. And negotia­
tions, the report said, were "virtually inevitable." 

In terms of directly affecting the situation in South Vietnam, 
however, the report took the position that pressure on the North 
would be "no substitute for counterinsurgency in South Vietnam": 

It is not likely that North Vietnam would (if it could) call off 
the war in the South even though U.S. actions would in time 
have serious economic and political impact. Overt action 
against North Vietnam would be unlikely to produce reduction 
in Viet Cong activity sufficiently to make victory on the 
ground possible in South Vietnam unless accompanied by new 
U.S. bolstering actions in South Vietnam and considerable im­
provement in the government there. The most to be expected 
would be reduction of North Vietnamese support of the Viet 
Cong for a while and, thus, the gaining of some time and op­
portunity by the government of South Vietnam to improve 
itself. 

NSAM 288 
In mid-March 1964, President Johnson, again sent McNamara, ac­

companied by McCone and JCS Chairman Taylor, to Vietnam for a 
report on the situation. On March 17 he endorsed their report and 
directed that its text should become NSAM 288. This document, 
which became the basic policy guideline for subsequent Vietnam 
decisions of the Johnson administration, declared that the U.S. ob-

17 For further details, see pt. Π of this study, p. 231. 
18 PP, Gravel ed., vol. m, p. 154. 
" Ibid., p. 155. The report, "Alternatives for Imposition of Measured Pressure Against North 
Vietnam," is discussed in pt. Π of this study, pp. 235-236. See also the article by the study 
group's coordinator, Robert Johnson, "Escalation Tlien and Now," Foreign Policy 60 (Fall 1985), 
pp. 130-147. 



jective was "an independent, non-Communist South Vietnam." 20 

Failure to achieve that objective could have serious repercussions 
in Asia: 

Unless we can achieve this objective in South Vietnam, 
almost all of Southeast Asia will probably fall under Commu­
nist dominance (all of Vietnam, Laos and Cambodia), accommo­
date to Communism so as to remove effective U.S. and anti-
Communist influence (Burma), or fall under the domination of 
forces not now explicitly Communist but likely then to become 
so (Indonesia taking over Malaysia). Thailand might hold for a 
period with our help, but would be under grave pressure. Even 
the Philippines would become shaky, and the threat to India to 
the west, Australia and New Zeedand to the south, and 
Taiwan, Korea, and Japan to the north and east would be 
greatly increased. 

Moreover, failure to prevent Communist control of South Viet­
nam could have broader repercussions for U.S. security interests, 
especially the reputation of the United States as a guarantor 
against Communist invasion or subversion of other countries. Fol­
lowing the position taken by the Kennedy administration, the 
NSAM stated that "the South Vietnam conflict is regarded as a 
test case of U.S. capacity to help a nation meet a Commiinist 'war 
of liberation.'" 

On April 17, 1964, pursuant to NSAM 288, the Joint Chiefs of 
Staff proposed a three-phase plan of military action for applying 
graduated pressure on North Vietnam: (1) air and ground strikes 
against targets in South Vietnam, and hot pursuit into Laotian and 
Cambodian border areas; (2) "tit-for-tat" airstrikes, airborne and 
amphibious raids, and aerial mining operations against targets in 
North Vietnam; and, (3) increasingly severe airstrikes and other 
operations against North Vietnam.21 

This JCS plan, OPLAN 37-64, which included a list of 94 key 
bombing targets in North Vietnam (the "94 target list"), served as 
the blueprint for the U.S. air war against North Vietnam begin­
ning in 1965. 

In May 1964, as the military situation in South Vietnam and in 
Laos was considered to be growing more serious, and Premier 
Khanh was advocating "going north,' President Johnson asked his 
advisers to prepare two action plans, one military and the other po­
litical. On May 25, McGreorge Bundy sent him a draft memoran­
dum, "Basic Recommendations and Projected Course of Action on 
Southeast Asia," which Bundy said represented his understanding 
of the thinking of Rusk and McNamara. The memorandum recom­
mended U.S. action against North Vietnam if other measures 
failed: 22 

It is recommended that you make a Presidential decision 
that the U.S. will use selected and carefully graduated military 
force against North Vietnam, under the following conditions: 
(1) after appropriate diplomatic and political warning and 
preparations, (2) and unless such warning and preparations— 

10 For the text of NSAM 288, see PP, Gravel ed., vol. ΠΙ, pp. 499-510. 
" Ibid., p. 287. 
" Johnson Library, NSF Country File, Vietnam. 



in combination with other efforts—should produce a sufficient 
improvement of non-Communist prospects in South Vietnam 
and Laos to make military action against North Vietnam un­
necessary. 

The use of military force by the United States would be based on 
the following premises: 

(1) that the U.S. cannot tolerate the loss of Southeast Asia to 
communism; 

(2) that without a decision to resort to militaiy action if nec­
essary, the present prospect is not hopeful, in South Vietnam 
or in Laos; 

(3) that the decision to use force if necessary, backed by reso­
lute and extensive deployment, and conveyed by every possible 
means to our adversaries, gives the best chance of avoiding the 
actual use of such force. 

Force was not to be used "as an end in itself," however, but as a 
way of threatening the North Vietnamese and thereby persuading 
them to cease their support of Communist insurgencies in South 
Vietnam and Laos. "We intend that Communism shall not take 
over Southeast Asia, but we do not intend or desire the destruction 
of the Hanoi regime. If terror and subversion end, major improve­
ment in relations is possible. It is only if they do not end that trou­
ble is coming." 

The memorandum proposed that after taking certain prelimi­
nary steps at the United Nations and with other members of the 
Southeast Asia Treaty, the U.S., joined by such allies as would par­
ticipate, should deploy its forces in South Vietnam—"on a very 
large scale . . . so as to maximize their deterrent impact and their 
menace"—after which a supporting resolution would be sought 
from Congress, followed by further deployments and an initial air-
strike against North Vietnam "designed to have more deterrent 
than destructive impact." At the same time, U.S. dependents would 
be withdrawn from South Vietnam and there would be "active dip­
lomatic offensives" in the U.N. and/or a Geneva conference "aimed 
at restoring the peace throughout the area." 

McGeorge Bundy's memorandum also discussed the risks in­
volved: 

It is the hope and best estimate of most of your advisers that 
a decision of this kind can be executed without bringing a 
major military reply from Red China, and still less from the 
Soviet Union. It is also the prevailing estimate that selective 
and carefully prepared military action against North Vietnam 
will not trigger acts of terror and military operations by the 
Viet Cong which would engulf the Khanh regime. Nevertheless, 
it is recognized that in making this decision we must accept two 
risks: (1) the risk of escalation toward major land war or the 
use of nuclear weapons; (2) the risk of a reply in South Viet­
nam itself which would lose that country to neutralism and so 
eventually to Communism, (emphasis in original) 

At a meeting of U.S. civilian and military officials in Honolulu 
on June 1-3, 1964, to discuss these proposals, it was agreed, howev­
er, that military action against North Vietneun was not immediate­
ly necessary and that U.S. objectives and plans needed to be re-



fined before such action was taken.23 It was also agreed that Con­
gress and the public were not yet prepared to support further U.S. 
involvement in the war, and that a campaign should be launched 
for the purpose of obtaining such support. 

On June 3, President Johnson met with his advisers and ap­
proved the recommendations of the Honolulu meeting.24 

During and after the Honolulu Conference there was discussion 
among the President's advisers of the need for a congressional reso­
lution endorsing the President's position and supporting such mili­
tary action as the President deemed necessary. By June 11, 1964, a 
resolution had been drafted, but on June 15 the advisers decided 
that a resolution was not necessary at that time, and that, "in the 
absence of a considered decision for a sustained course of action," it 
would be difficult to explain and defend such a proposal. President 
Johnson, preparing for his 1964 campaign against Senator Barry 
M. Goldwater (R/Ariz.), also did not want the war to interfere with 
his election. Thus, with the exception of additional limited politi­
cal-military actions and the campaign to gain public and congres­
sional support, further actions and decisions were deferred until 
after November.25 

The South Vietnamese, however, were becoming impatient with 
the lack of U.S. action. During July, there was again talk in Saigon 
about "marching North," and on July 25 the new U.S. Ambassa­
dor, Gen. Maxwell Taylor, fearing that Nguyen Khanh might 
resign and that this could encourage neutralist tendencies, recom­
mended joint (U.S.-South Vietnam) contingency planning for bomb­
ing North Vietnam. At about the same time, the JCS proposed air-
strikes against targets in North Vietnam, including torpedo boat 
bases, by unmarked planes flown by non-American crews. (In June, 
Ambassador Lodge had also recommended attacking torpedo boat 
bases.)86 

The Gulf of Tonkin Incidents 
Meanwhile, covert military operations against North Vietnam 

continued under the OPLAN 34-A program approved by President 
Johnson in January 1964. One such operation involved attacks on 
the coast of North Vietnam by high-speed boats manned by com­
mandos from South Vietnam and other countries who had been re­
cruited and were supported and led by the CLA with assistance 
from the U.S. Navy. Another operation, the DE SOTO patrols, in­
volved the use of U.S. destroyers equipped with special electronic 
gear which was manned by personnel from the National Security 
Agency (NSA, which intercepts, processes, analyzes and dissemi­
nates information derived from communications of other countries) 
to gather information on North Vietnam's radar and communica­
tions systems, as well as to conduct a "show of force" off the North 

23 Ambassador Lodge favored bombing the North but was opposed to the use of U.S. ground 
forces in the South. In a letter to President Johnson on June 5,1964, he said that this would be 
a "venture of unlimited possibilities which could put us onto a slope along which we slide into a 
bottomless pit." Johnson Library, NSF Country File, Vietnam. 

24 For the Honolulu decisions see PP, Gravel ed., vol. Π, pp. 324-325, and vol. Ill, pp. 171-176. 
25 For an explanation of these developments see pt. II of this study, pp. 266-274. 
2* Johnson Library, NSF NSC History, Gulf of Tonkin Attacks, Saigon to Washington 214, 

July 25,1964; and the Pentagon Papers as Published by the New York Times (New York: Bantam 
Books, 1971), p. 258. 



Vietnamese coast. As will be seen, these patrols were also viewed 
as a means by which to provoke the North Vietnamese to take ac­
tions to which the U.S. and South Vietnam could then react. 

Qn July 30, 1964, there was a 34-A raid against the North Viet­
namese coast. The next day, the U.S.S. Maddox began a DE SOTO 
patrol in the Gulf of Tonkin in the area near the raid. On August 
2, the Maddox was attacked by North Vietnamese torpedo boats. In 
a meeting that day with Rusk, Ball, Cyrus Vance (Deputy Secre­
tary of Defense), McGreorge Bundy, and Gen. Earle C. Wheeler, the 
Chairman of the JCS (replacing Taylor), the President ordered an 
augmented patrol, and the Maddox was joined by the U.S.S. Turner 
Joy. He also approved another previously scheduled 34-A raid 
against North Vietnam on the night of August 3.27 

On August 4, the commander of the DE SOTO patrol reported 
that the ships were under attack but several hours later, while 
U.S. officials were preparing to retaliate, he expressed doubts that 
an attack had actually occurred. President Johnson, however, after 
assurances by military leaders and Secretary McNamara that an 
attack had occurred, ordered U.S. planes to retaliate against North 
Vietnam.28 One of the principal targets was the torpedo boat bases 

" In a "Top Secret—No Other Distribution" memorandum to Rusk on Aug. 8, 1964, which 
was declassified in 1987 by the State Department at the author's request, Michael V. Forrestal 
(formerly on the NSC staff, who had moved to the State Department in 1964 to become head of 
the Vietnam Coordinating Committee) stated: "One thine that may be troubling you, as it has 
troubled me, is that some of us did not know that the OPLAN 34-A actions against the Vinh 
Son radar poet and Ron on the night of August 3rd (about the same time as the second destroyer 
incident) had been authorized. I checked Qiis on August 4th with Cy Vance and Mac Bundy, 
both of whom told me that these actions had been approved at the White House on the previous 
Sunday, August 2nd. The implication was that the [State] Department had acquiesced at that 
time." He added: "I think it is very important for the Department to review its own procedures 
for handling 303 Committee [see below] actions, so that somebody who is responsible for the area 
passes on ω these activities just prior to an executive order. At present, many of these activi­
ties are planned weeks or even months in advance, and the opportunity for review in light of 
any changed political circumstances is not adequate." U.S. Department of State, Central File, 
Pol 27 Viet S. The 303 Committee of the NSC, which authorized U.S. covert operations in other 
countries, was composed of the Deputy Secretary of Defense (Vance), the Deputy Under Secre-
tapr of State for Political Affairs (U. Alexis Johnson), the Deputy Director (Plans) of the CIA 
(Richard Helms), and the President's Special Assistant for National Security Affairs (McGeorge 
Bundy). 

Note: In pt. II of this study, p. 286, it was stated that at a meeting of the President and his 
advisers on the afternoon of Aupust 3, the 34-A operation scheduled for that night was dis­
cussed, as well as the addition of more targets for that operation, and that Rusk subsequently 
sent a cable to Taylor stating that more targets would be added. This is incorrect in part. The 
meeting took place from 6:25 p.m. to 7:15 p.m. (following, not prior to, as stated on p. 287 of pt. 
II, a briefing of Senate leaders which occurred at 3:00 p.m.), and by that time the 34-A raids on 
August 3 had already occurred (it was then 6:25 a.m. on August 4 in Saigon). The 34-A oper­
ations of August 3 were discussed at the meeting, but the discussion of additional targets, and 
Rusk's reference to this in his cable, had to do with future 34-A operations rather than those of 
August 3. 
'• These events are discussed at length in pt. Π, ch. 5 of this study. New evidence made avail­

able in 1988 suggests that the President and his principal advisers recognized, at least as of 
August 4, that the North Vietnamese attacks on U.S. ships were caused by the 34-A raids, even 
though they may not have been a "sufficient cause" for those attacks. In handwritten notes by 
McGeorge Buniqr on the luncheon of the President with Bundy, Rusk, and McNamara on 
August 4 (Johnson Library, McGeorge Bundy Papers)—the only notes which appear to have 
been taken at that meeting—Bundy states, without indicating who made the comment, "What is 
34-A role in all this? Must be cause; no other is rational. But not a sufficient cause?" (emphasis 
in original) 

Since pt Π of this study was published, the second volume in the U.S. Navy's history of the 
war has Been published: Edward Marolda and Oscar P. Fitzgerald, From Military Assistance to 
Combat, 1SS9-1965, vol. Π of The United States Navy and the Vietnam Conflict (Washington, 
D.C.: U.S. Gov. Print. Off. for the Naval Historical Center, Dept. of the Navy, 1986). This valua­
ble work contains (pp. 394-453) a detailed discussion of the DE SOTO patrols and of the Gulf of 
Tonkin incidents of August 2 and 4, 1964. Based on the available evidence the authors, after a 
rather strained interpretation in which contrary evidence is only mentioned in passing, con-
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which both the JCS and Ambassador Lodge had recommended at­
tacking. 

The President also used the occasion to obtain the congressional 
resolution which had been discussed in June. In the Gulf of Tonkin 
Resolution, passed by the House of Representatives 416-0 and by 
the Senate 89-2 (Senators Wayne Morse [D/Ore.] and Ernest 
Gruening [D/ Alaska] voted no), Congress declared that "The 
United States regards as vital to its national interest and to world 
peace the maintenance of international peace and security in 
Southeast Asia." The President was authorized "to take all neces­
sary steps, including the use of armed force to assist any member 
or protocol state of the Southeast Asia Collective Defense Treaty 
requesting assistance in defense of its freedom." 29 

During August-September 1964, while President Johnson made 
the keeping of peace and avoidance of U.S. troop commitments to 
Vietnam central themes in his election campaign, his advisers con­
tinued to prepare for further use of force against North Vietnam. 
In mid-August, W.W. Rostow proposed, as he had on several previ­
ous occasions, a program of "limited, graduated military actions," 
reinforced by other forms of pressure, to force the North Vietnam­
ese, out of self-interest, to withdraw their support of the insurgency 
in the South.80 

On August 11, the State Department circulated a plan, "Next 
Course of Action in Southeast Asia," drafted by William Bundy, 
under which the U.S. would pursue a three-phase course of 
action:81 

Phase One—Military Silence (through August) 
Phase Two—Limited Pressure (September through Decem­

ber) 
Phase Three—More Serious Pressures (January 1965 and fol­

lowing) 
In Phaae Two, the U.S. would continue tit-for-tat retaliation 

against the North, which could include bombing of POL (petrole­
um, oil, lubricants) sites and the mining of the harbor at Haiphong. 
DE SOTO patrols would continue, but Bundy said that, "Both for 
present purposes and to maintain the credibility of our account of 
the events of last week [during the Gulf of Tonkin debate], they 
must be clearly dissociated from 34-A operations both in fact and in 
physical appearance." (emphasis in original) Other actions would 
include limited cross-border bombing operations along the Ho Chi 
Minh Trail in Laos by U.S. and/or South Vietnamese planes. 

In Phase Three, the U.S. would attack infiltration routes and fa­
cilities in the southern part of North Vietnam and move north­
ward, followed by attacks on military-related targets in the area 
around Hanoi and Haiphong. 

elude that there was an attack on August 4. They also assert (p. 435): ". . . American leaders 
did not seek to provoke a North Vietnamese reaction to secure a casus belli, as often has been 
alleged." Yet they have not fully examined the malting of the decision to send the DE SOTO 
patrol and they oner no evidence to support this assertion. 
" For a detailed discussion of the Gulf of Tonkin incidents and the resolution, see pt. Π of 

this study, ch. 5. 
50 PP, Gravel ed., vol. V, pp. 336-337. See also pt. Π of this study, pp. 345-346. 
31PP, Gravel ed., vol. QI, pp. 524-529. 



Ambassador Taylor, who had cabled Washington on August 9 
proposing that OPLAN 37-64 (the JCS plan of April 1964 for grad­
uated military pressure against North Vietnam) should be imple­
mented beginning January 1, 1965, agreed with Bundy, but said 
that the U.S. should proceed with caution "until we have a better 
feel of the quality of our ally [the Khanh government]." 32 

The JCS, as well as Adm. Ulysses S. Grant Sharp, Jr., Command­
er in Chief, Pacific (CINCPAC), who was in direct command of all 
U.S. forces in Vietnam, while generally agreeing with Bundy's pro­
posal, recommended that the U.S. should establish a base at 
Danang, and should move more quickly and firmly to position its 
forces for undertaking major action against North Vietnam, begin­
ning with the deployment of U.S. ground as well as additional air 
forces to provide for protection of U.S. units already stationed in 
South Vietnam.33 

The JCS, in its response to State's memorandum, again empha­
sized their view that the U.S. should apply the force necessary to 
compel the North Vietnamese to cease supporting the insurgency 
in South Vietnam and in Laos. Stronger U.S. action against the 
North was "urgent," the Chiefs said. ". . . accelerated and forceful 
action with respect to North Vietnam is essential to prevent a com­
plete collapse of the US position in Southeast Asia." 

In the latter part of August 1964, there was a new political crisis 
in South Vietnam. At the time of the Gulf of Tonkin attack, 
Khanh had declared a state of emergency giving him virtually ab­
solute power. On August 16, with the approval of the Military Rev­
olutionary Council, he announced a new constitution (the Vung 
Tau Charter) by which he became President, replacing Chief of 
State Gen. Duong Van Minh. There was a strong reaction, especial­
ly from some of the military and from the Buddhists, and in late 
August Khanh withdrew the charter and acceded to a triumvirate 
consisting of himself, General Minh and Gen. Tran Thien Khiem 
which would rule until the council could form a new government. 
The general reaction in Washington as well as among U.S. officials 
in Saigon was that the United States might have to move more 
quickly and vigorously than the State Department had suggested 
in William Bundy's memorandum of August 11. In a memorandum 
on August 31, which he prepared for a meeting that day attended 
by Rusk, McNamara, McGeorge Bundy, and others (the President 
did not attend), William Bundy felt, according to his own descrip­
tion several years later, "that by the end of the week it would be 
generally thought that the situation was desperate . . . [and] even 
if Khanh recovered, the situation would have been seriously weak­
ened and the odds had become 'very great' that without some 
major new element the situation could simply come apart some 
time between now and November." 34 This memorandum, Bundy 
said, was his first expression of the possibility that the U.S. might 
"lose" in Vietnam, and that, in order to prepare to defend Thai-

82 Johnson Library, NSF NSC History, Gulf of Tonkin Attacks, Saicon to Washington 364, 
Aug. 9, 1964; and Saigon to Washington 465, Aug. 18, 1964, the text of which is in PP, Gravel 
ed., vol. ΙΠ, pp. 545-548. 

88 For the views of CINCPAC and the JCS, see PP1 Gravel ed., vol. ΙΠ, pp. 542-545 and 550-552. 
84 U.S. Department of State, Lot File 85 D 240 (William Bundy Papers), notes made by Wil­

liam Bundy in 1969 for preparation of a history of the war. 



land and other Asian countries, it "would be much stronger to go 
down with our guns firing." 

Bundy proposed that if a semblance of cohesion could be reestab­
lished in South Vietnam, the U.S. might consider trying some 34-A 
actions and a DE SOTO patrol in a "defensible but challenging 
mode" to provoke the North Vietnamese to react, thus giving the 
U.S. em excuse for bombing the North again, and more strongly 
than before. If this produced greater cohesion in the South, the 
U.S. could then consider applying more systematic military pres­
sure, against the North, possibly sooner than his August 11 memo­
randum had proposed, "but hopefully," he added, that decision 
would not have to be made "for a couple of months." 35 

There are apparently no notes of the meeting on August 31, but 
afterward a cable was sent to Saigon stating that, if possible, 
Khanh should be restored to power. The cable, according to Wil­
liam Bundy, did not reflect the "underlying gloom in my 
memo." 36 Apparently, Rusk and McNamara did not think the sit­
uation was so serious as to warrant the provocative actions suggest­
ed by Bundy. 

In a memorandum to the President after the August 31 meeting, 
McGeorge Bundy said that there was some question as to Khanh s 
ability to control the situation, but that, "The larger question is 
whether there is any course of action that can improve the chances 
in this weakening situation." 37 Various measures were being dis­
cussed, but he thought that "before we let this country go the 
U.S. should consider using its own forces against Commimist insur­
gents in the South. He said he did not think the use of U.S. ground 
forces in South Vietnam would be a "repetition of Korea," and he 
told the President: "It seems to me at least possible that a couple 
of brigade-size units [an Army brigade is approximately 4,500] put 
in to do specific jobs about six weeks from now might be good medi­
cine everywhere." 

Another proponent of increased pressure on North Vietnam was 
John T. McNaughton, Assistant Secretary of Defense for Interna­
tional Security Affairs (replacing William Bundy), who concluded 
in a memorandum in early September, "Plan of Action for South 
Vietnam," that the Government of South Vietnam was so weak 
that the U.S. could succeed only if it used its own ground combat 
forces in South Vietnam and took further action against the 
North.88 He proposed that, beginning around October 1, the U.S. 
should seek "by doing legitimate things to provoke a DRV response 
and to be in a good position to seize on that response, or upon an 
unprovoked DRV action, to commence a crescendo of GVN-US mili­
tary actions against the DRV." 

On September 7, the JCS also called for provocative actions by 
the U.S. which could provide the basis for launching systematic air 
attacks on the North.39 

" Bundy's memorandum of Aug. 31,1964 is also in Lot File 85 D 240. 
38 Same location, 1969 Bundy notes. 
·* Johnson Library, NSF Aides Files, McGeorge Bundy Memos to the President. 
" For the text of the second draft of McNaughton s memorandum, Sept. 3, 1964, see PP, 

Gravel ed., vol. Ill, pp. 556-569. 
·· Ibid., p. 193, from JCS "talking paper" for the Chairman of the JCS, "Next Courses of 

Action for RVN," Sept. 7,1964. 



On September 6, Ambassador Taylor cabled Washington that as 
a result of the political turmoil—Khanh had regained power on 
September 4, but the situation remained unstable—it was clear 
that "we now have a better feel for the quality of our ally." 40 (On 
August 18 he had taken the position that the U.S. should proceed 
with caution until it could get a "better feel.") "Recent events," he 
said, "have revealed the weakness of our ally. . . ." Rather than 
waiting for improvements in the Government of South Vietnam 
before taking stronger action against the North, he now thought 
that the U.S. should plan to begin its graduated pressure plan a 
month earlier (December 1) than he had recommended on August 
9. To wait, he said, would be to risk further political turmoil and 
the development of a "popular front," which might have the effect 
of forcing the U.S. to withdraw from South Vietnam. If the U.S. 
were to leave Vietnam with our tail between our legs, the conse­
quences of this defeat in the rest of Asia, Africa, and Latin Amer­
ica would be disastrous." 

On September 8, a Special National Intelligence Estimate (SNIE), 
"Chances for a Stable Govermnent in South Vietnam," concluded 
that, "At present the odds are against the emergence of a stable 
non-Communist regime in South Vietnam." 41 

On September 9, 1964, President Johnson took time from his po­
litical campaign to discuss with his advisers the uncertain situation 
in South Vietnam and the question of applying additional military 
pressures on North Vietnam. Prior to the meeting, the President 
received a memorandum drafted on September 8 by William Bundy 
and Michael V. Forrestal (head of the Vietniim Coordinating Com­
mittee) summarizing the view of Rusk, McNamara, Taylor, and 
Greneral Wheeler, Chairman of the JCS, that the Government of 
South Vietnam was functioning minimally and that the U.S. 
should increase its pressure on North Vietnam. The memorandum 
proposed the resumption of the DE SOTO patrols and 34-A oper­
ations (but proposed a clear separation of the two), both of which 
had been suspended after the Gulf of Tonkin incidents, as well as 
limited air and ground operations by South Vietnam in the border 
area of Laos where infiltration was occurring, and tit-for-tat air-

40 Saigon to Washington 768, Sept. 6,1964, in ibid., vol. Π, pp. 336-337. 
41 U.S. Central Intelligence Agency, Central File, SNIE 53-64, Sept. 8, 1964. At that time, Na­

tional Intelligence Estimates (NIEs) and Special National Intelligence Estimates (SNIEs) were 
drafted by the Board of National Estimates, a group of 10 or 12 CIA intelligence officers, and 
then reviewed by other intelligence offices (primarily the Bureau of Intelligence and Research 
(INK) in the State Department, the Defense Intelligence Agency (DIA) in the Defense Depart­
ment, and the intelligence offices of the Army, the Navy, and the Air Force, with participation 
on some issues by the National Security Agency, the FBI, and the Atomic Energy Commission). 
After interagency review and whatever revisions had been agreed upon, estimates, (with dissent­
ing footnotes if the difference of opinion had not been resolved through revision) was sent for 
approval to the United States Intelligence Board (USIB), consisting of representatives of each of 
the agencies, and chaired by the Director of Central Intelligence. 

In 1973, the Board of National Estimates was replaced by a system under which 15 or so Na­
tional Intelligence Officers (the number has varied) are responsible individually for managing 
the drafting and interagency review of estimates. They operate individually rather than as a 
board, although their collective existence was recognized with the establishment in 1980 of the 
National Intelligence Council, of which they are members. After estimates have been drafted, 
and after interagency review and revision nave been completed, the estimates are approved by 
the National Foreign Intelligence Board (NFIB), which was the name given to the interagency 
group previously known as the United States Intelligence Board. 

This author is grateful to his colleague, Alfred B. Prados, formerly a military intelligence offi­
cer who is now an intelligence analyst in the Congressiontd Research Service, for his help with 
this explanation. 



strikes against North Vietnam in the event of any additional Com­
munist attacks on U.S. units or any significant attacks on targets 
in South Vietnam. The memorandum said that actions designed to 
provoke the North Vietnamese into attacking should not be at­
tempted, however, "while the GVN [Government of Vietnam] is 
struggling to its feet," but that by early October such actions might 
be recommended, depending on progress in South Vietnam and the 
reaction of the North, especially to the DE SOTO patrols.42 

At the meeting on September 9,1964, President Johnson asked if 
anyone disagreed with the recommendations in the Bundy-Forres-
tal memorandum.43 Except for a division within the JCS, where 
the Chief of Staff of the Air Force and the Commandant of the Ma­
rines argued that the U.S. should take prompt action to carry out 
extensive airstrikes against North Vietnam, there was no disagree­
ment with the proposed program. 

Ambassador Taylor was asked by the President why he did not 
favor more drastic immediate action, and he replied that it was im­
portant not to act when the government was in such an uncertain 
condition. The President expressed a similar opinion, saying that, 
"the proper answer to those advocating immediate and extensive 
action against the North was that we should not do this until our 
side could defend itself in the streets of Saigon." 

The President asked the group "if anyone doubted whether it 
was worth all this effort." 

Ambassador Taylor replied that we could not afford to let 
Hanoi win, in terms of our overall position in the Eirea and in 
the world. General Wheeler supported him most forcefully, re­
porting the unanimous view of the Joint Chiefs that If we 
should lose in South Vietnam, we would lose Southeast Asia. 
Country after country on the periphery would give way and 
look toward Communist China as the rising power of the area. 
Mr. McCone expressed his concurrence and so did the Secre­
tary of State, with considerable force. 

Thus, the reason for waiting, the President noted, "must be 
simply that with a weak and wobbly situation it would be unwise 
to attack until we could stabilize our base." 

The President, as well as Rusk and McNamara, reemphasized 
that "money was no object," and Rusk, observing that it had cost 
$50,000 to kill a single guerrilla during the Communist insurgency 
in Greece in 1947-1948, said it would be "worth any amount to 
win." Taylor responded, however, that there was no shortage of 
funds. 

The President added that "what disheartened him was that we 
had our best team out there for 60 days and had lost ground." 
(Taylor and his top associates, U. Alexis Johnson, Deputy Under 
Secretary of State for Political Affairs, and William Sullivan, had 
taken their posts in July.) Taylor said he thought the President 
had the wrong impression. There had been military progress "at 
the grass roots," he said. "Our current problem is political. 

48 Johnson Library, Meeting Notes File. The fourth page of the memorandum appears to be 
migfljng from the copy in this file, but the Pentagon Papers, (Gravel ed., vol. ΙΠ, pp. 561-562), 
reprinted the entire memorandum. 

48 Johnson library, Meeting Notes File, McGeorge Bundy notes of the meeting on Sept. 9, 
1964. 



The President concluded the meeting by approving the recom­
mendation in the memorandum, reemphasizing that money was no 
object, and telling General Wheeler to explain to his JCS col­
leagues "that we would be ready to do more, when we had a base." 
He said he "did not wish to enter the patient in a 10-round bout, 
when he was in no shape to hold out for one round. We should get 
him ready to face 3 or 4 rounds at least." 

The President's decisions were promulgated by NSAM 314, Sep­
tember 10, 1964, which directed that the additional steps be taken, 
but added: ". . . the first order of business at present is to take ac­
tions which will help to strengthen the fabric of the Government of 
South Vietnam; to the extent that the situation permits, such 
action should precede larger decisions. If such larger decisions are 
required at any time by a change in the situation, they will be 
taken." 44 

On September 13, there was an attempted coup against Khanh 
by other members of the Revolutionary Council, led by Gen. Lam 
Van Phat, then Minister of Interior in the Khanh government. 
After strong intervention by the U.S., which led to a "heated" 
three-hour conversation" between Phat and U. Alexis Johnson 
(Taylor was in Washington), Phat yielded and the coup was called 
off.45 

Between the promulgation of NSAM 314 on September 10 and 
the Presidential election on November 3, 1964, the U.S. continued 
to apply increasing pressure on North Vietnam as well as on the 
Government of South Vietnam, and the President's principal advis­
ers continued to consider further action. In early October, there 
were reports that some of those advisers were openly advocating an 
expansion of military action. 

In a memorandum on October 1 in preparation for a Presidentiiil 
press interview, McGeorge Bundy suggested to the President that 
he should "give a hint of firmness," adding, "It is a better than 
even chance that we will be undertaking some air and land action 
in the Laotian corridor and even in North Vietnam within the next 
two months and we do not want the record to suggest even remote­
ly that we campaigned on peace in order to start a war in Novem­
ber." 48 

The President ignored Bundy's advice and continued his cam­
paign for peace and against sending U.S. troops to Vietnam. On Oc­
tober 21, for example, he said in a speech in Akron, Ohio: "Some­
times our folks get a little impatient. Sometimes they rattle their 
rockets some, and they bluff about their bombs. But we are not 
about to send American boys 9 or 10,000 miles away from home to 
do what Asian boys ought to be doing for themselves." 47 

On October 14, Ambassador Taylor warned that the political situ­
ation was becoming more critical and that infiltration was increas-

44 For the text of NSAM 314 see PP, Gravel ed., vol. IIIjuPP. 565-566. 
45 U. Alexis Johnson with Jef Olivarius McAllister, The Right Hand of Power (Englewood 

Cliffs, NJ.: Prentice-Hall, 1984), pp. 414-415. 
49New York Times, Oct. 2, 1964, and Johnson Library, NSF Aides Files, McGeorge Bundy 

Memos to the President. 
47 U.S. President, Public Papers of the Presidents of the United States (Washington, D.C.: 

Office of the Federal Register, National Archives and Records Service), Lyndon B. Johnson, 
1963-1964, pp. 1390-1391. 



ing. "I feel sure," he cabled Washington, "that we must soon adopt 
new and drastic methods to reduce and eventually end such infil­
tration if we are ever to succeed in South Vietnam." 48 The JCS 
agreed with Taylor, and in a memorandum on October 27 they 
urged that the U.S. attack the problem at its source—North Viet­
nam—through increased military pressure, including airstrikes on 
the North by South Vietnamese and unidentified U.S. planes (this 
time, contrary to their proposal in April, they proposed using U.S. 
pilots).49 

On October 19, 1964, William Bundy sent a long memorandum, 
"The Choices We Face," to Rusk, McNamara, Ball and McGeorge 
Bundy for their consideration. These were the subjects it covered:60 

(1) Deterioration in SVN [South Vietnam] and increased 
toughness of NVN [North Vietnam] and China, with U.S. 
public wanting out 

(2) US stakes in SVN and Laos 
(3) Options open to US 
(4) Likely developments in SVN under present policies 
(5) Effect of low-risk actions outside SVN 
(6) Option A: Continue present policies indefinitely 
(7) Option B: Systematic military pressures against NVN 
(8) Option C: Continue present programs, but wink at intra-

Vietnam negotiations 
(9) Option D: Continue present programs, but take a negoti­

ating initiative ourselves 
(10) Option E: Continue present programs but add actions to 

convey a believable threat of force, then negotiate 
(11) Shoring up the next line of defense if SVN cannot be 

saved. 
There is no available documentation with respect to what action, 

if any, was taken on Bundy's memorandum, but in early November 
he became head of a working group to propose a course of action 
for the U.S. 

Planning for U.S. Attacks on North Vietnam 
On November 1, 1964, the Communists attacked the air base at 

Bien Hoa, killing five Americans, wounding 76, and destroying or 
damaging 27 of 30 U.S. B-57s. Taylor and the JCS urged the Presi­
dent to retaliate with airstrikes on the North. With the election 
two days away, the President preferred to wait. Instead of retaliat­
ing, he suggested to Taylor that U.S. dependents should be with­
drawn before bombing the North, and that it might also be desira­
ble to deploy some U.S. ground forces to provide better protection 
for U.S. personnel and bases. Taylor replied that ground forces 
were not needed. He was "greatly surprised," he said later, "that 
the offer of ground troops was made so casually, as it seemed to me 

4β PP, Gravel ed., vol. HI, p. 207. 
*>Ibid., p. 208. 
50 U.S. Department of State, Lot File 85 D 240 (William Bundy Papers), notes made by Wil­

liam Bundy m 1969 cited above. Bundy said in a cover memorandum that it was a "think-piece" 
in response to a long memorandum by Ball on October 5 (see pt. Π of this study, pp. 360-362) 
questioning U.S. policy. "The choices we face," Bundy said, "are clearly in the Hobson class, and 
I have not tried to arrive at any recommendation as to which is the least bad." The text of 
Bundy's responses, except for the first four pages, has been declassified and is in U.S. Depart­
ment of State, Lot File 79 D 212. 



a much more difficult decision than the use of our air forces 
against military targets north of the seventeenth parallel." 61 

On November 3,1964, the day he was elected, President Johnson 
directed his advisers to prepare alternative courses of action for 
the U.S. According to a memorandum from the chairman of the 
interdepartmental Working Group, William Bundy, "Bien Hoa may 
be repeated at any time. This would tend to force our hand, but 
would also give us a good springboard for any decision for stronger 
action. The President is already thinking in terms of maximum use 
of a Gulf of Tonkin rationale, either for an action that would show 
toughness and hold the line till we can decide the big issue, or as a 
basis for starting a clear course of action under the broad op­
tions." 82 

During November, there was an intensive discussion of the three 
principal options which were being considered by the Working 
Group: 

Option A—To continue present policies indefinitely, includ­
ing covert actions by the South Vietnamese against the North, 
and reprisals against the North by the U.S. and South Viet­
nam for any additional Cbmmunist "spectaculars," such as 
Bien Hoa. 

Option B—To add to present actions a systematic program of 
military pressure against the North, to be continued rapidly 
until objectives were reached. (This was called "full/fast 
squeeze" by McNaughton.) 

Option C—To add to present programs a combination of dip­
lomatic moves indicating willingness to negotiate and graduat­
ed military moves against North Vietnam. (This was called 
"progressive squeeze and talk" by McNaughton.) 

Toward the end of November, the Working Group gave its report 
to the President's top advisers, and after further discussions they 
recommended to the President a two-phase plan of action consist­
ing of elements of Option A and Option C.58 Phase I, which was to 
last for 30 days but could be extended, would involve increasing 
military pressure through present programs, as well as armed re­
connaissance strikes (attacks on "targets of opportunity") in Laos 
against North Vietnamese infiltration routes and South Vietnam­
ese and possibly U.S. "tit-for-tat" airstrikes in the southern part of 
North Vietnam (below the 19th parallel) in response to CommuniBt 
attacks. At the end of Phase I there would be a "transition phase" 
in which, if the Communists had not begun to yield, additional 
pressure would be applied by attacks on infiltration routes in the 
southern part of North Vietnam, among other things. If the Com­
munists still did not appear to be yielding, Phase Π would begin, 
and for the next two to six months there would be progressively 
more severe airstrikes on targets in North Vietnam, beginning in 
the southern part below the 19th parallel and working north, until, 
if necessary, all targets on the 94 target list" drawn up by the 
JCS in AprU 1964 had been attacked. In addition, the report sug-

51 Maxwell D. Taylor, Sworda and Plowshares (New York; W. W. Norton, 1972), p. 325. 
•» PP, Gravel ed., vol. ΙΠ, p. 593. 
83 For the text see ibid., pp. 678-683. 



gested that North Vietnamese ports could be mined and the U.S. 
Navy could establish a blockade. 

The "Position Paper on Southeast Asia" which outlined this 
plan, drafted by William Bundy on November 30, 1964 and formal­
ly approved by President Johnson on December 7, also provided 
that during the period the U.S. would ". . . continue to press the 
South Vietnamese Government in every possible way to make the 
government itself more effective and to push forward with the paci­
fication program. We will also press upon leaders and members of 
all groups in that country the overriding need for national unity." 

U.S. objectives, the paper stated, "are unchanged": 
1. Get Hanoi and North Vietnam (DRV) support and direc­

tion removed from South Vietnam (SVN), and, to the extent 
possible, obtain DRV cooperation in ending Viet Cong (VC) op­
erations in SVN. 

2. Re-establish an independent and secure South Vietnam 
with appropriate international safeguards, including the free­
dom to accept US and other external assistance as required. 

3. Maintain the security of other non-Communist nations in 
Southeast Asia including specifically the maintenance and ob­
servance of the Geneva Accords of 1962 in Laos. 

Although there were some differences among the President's ci­
vilian advisers, they generally agreed with the proposed plan. The 
military, however, while approving increased pressure on North 
Vietnam, preferred a stronger, faster use of military force based on 
applying "maximum practicable conventional military power in a 
short time." 84 

On December 1, 1964, President Johnson met with Vice Presi­
dent-elect Hubert H. Humphrey, Rusk, McNamara, McGeorge 
Bundy, William Bundy, Taylor, McCone, McNaughton, and General 
Wheeler.88 Taylor began by saying that pacification was "bogging 
down"; the Communists were stronger; the South Vietnamese Gov­
ernment was weaker and more unstable. He called the situation a 
"losing game." "Who do you talk to?" the President asked, Taylor 
replied, "You have to identify focal points—military, Catholics, 
Buddhists, labor, and 'ambitious politicians' on the High National 

64 Ibid., p. 290. The definitive JCS position was stated in JGSM-955-64 {ibid., pp. 628-630), and 
repeated in JCSM-982-64, Nov. 23, 1964, which is still classified. The JCS plan was summarized 
on Nov. 29,1964 by William Bundy in his draft NSAM WP1 Gravel ed., vol. Ill, p. 679): 

"The Joint Chiefs of Staff recommend immediate initiation of sharply intensified military 
pressure against the DRV, starting with a sharp and early attack in force on the DRV [Demo­
cratic Republic of Vietnam—North Vietnam], subsequent to brief operations in Laos and US 
low-level reconnaissance north of the boundary to divert DRV attention prior to the attack in 
force. This program would be designed to destroy in the first three days Pnuc Yen airfield near 
Hanoi PsJorth Vietnam's major air field], other airfields, and major IiOL [petroleum, oil, lubri­
cants] facilities, clearly to establish the fact that the US intends to use military force to the full 
limits of what military force can contribute to achieving US objectives in Southeast Asia, and to 
afford the GVN [Government of Vietnam—South Vietnam] respite by curtailing DRV assistance 
to and direction of the Viet Cong. The follow-on military program—involving armed reconnais­
sance of infiltration routes in Laos, air strikes on infiltration targets in the DRV, and thenpro-
greesive strikes throughout North Vietnam [attacks on the 94 targets proposed by the JCS on 
Apr. 17, 1964]—could be suspended short of full destruction of the DRV if our objectives were 
earlier achieved." 

55 There are no prepared notes of this meeting by someone designated to be the notetaker. 
There are, however, three sets of handwritten notes: McNaughton's, which are in the Johnson 
Library, Meeting Notes File; McGeorge Bundy's, which are in the Johnson Library, Papers of 
McGeoree Bundy; William Bundy's, which are in his papers in U.S. Department of State, Lot 
File 85 D 240. The quotations used here are taken from all three sets of notes, but primarily 
from McNaughton's notes, which are the most complete of the three sets. 



Council." "Where are the Communists?" the President asked, "In 
the Buddhists?" Taylor replied that the Communists were using 
the Buddhists. "Basic to all we do," the President said, "is pulling 
South Vietnamese together." "You know my views of Diem. Don't 
want another Diem." "How [can we] bring these people together," 
he asked, adding, "if it takes all SO [Special Operations—covert 
U.S. activities] and Rockefeller money. They do it or else. No point 
hitting North if South not together." "What more can we do? ' the 
President asked. "It's hard," Taylor replied. The President: "Can't 
we say we just can't go on. Can't we have a warning?" Taylor: 
"Wonderful, but can we mean it?" 

Saying, "Do we have any clout—have we played every card we've 
got and moved our stack?' the President asked Taylor whether the 
Pope could be used to influence the Catholics. 'Maybe," Taylor 
said. What about the Buddhists, the President asked. "What on 
earth can we do with them—any way to get to them?" Taylor re­
plied that this involved three or four Buddhist leaders, and that, 
CIA sees no way to work with them. Don't want to exile them." 

"Let's get thinkers to work on ABCD's to Buddhists," the President 
responded. What about the military? the President added. "Have 
we oversold them on the notion that we are bound to be a power in 
the Pacific?" 

The President then asked Taylor whether the U.S. had done ev-
eiything it could. "If dollars, give 'em. [I do] not want to send 
widow woman to slap Jack Dempsey [a famous American boxer]." 
The "day of reckoning" was coming, he said, but he wanted to be 
sure that everything possible had been done. The U.S., he said, 
"could have kept" Diem. "Should we get another one?" Taylor re­
plied: "We need one. Maybe [Premier] Huong and [Deputy Premier] 
Vien together may be a Diem." 

What about contributions from U.S. allies? the President asked, 
saying he was not sure that the U.S. had been "tough enough with 
our allies—it's shocking we've done so little." He asked Taylor for 
a list of what he needed from other countries and asked Rusk to 
develop a plan for getting more help. 

General Wheeler then spoke, urging firm action, and the Presi­
dent said he agreed but wanted first to have everything in order. 

Taylor asked the President whether he approved the program 
drawn up during November, and the President replied that he did, 
but that he would decide "exactly what at the time." He said he 
was, "never reluctant to stand up, but must do damndest in SVN," 
get as many allies as possible, and plan to get U.S. dependents out. 
'Before Wheeler saddles up, try everything." 56 "If more of the 

same, then I'll be talking to you, Greneral [Wheeler]." 
President Johnson then met on December 3 with Ambassador 

Taylor to discuss what Taylor would say to the South Vietnamese. 
There are no available notes of that meeting, but written instruc­
tions from the President to Taylor on December 3, 1964 stated that 
there were two primary causes for the lack of progress in South 

ββ In pt Π of this study, p. 376, this quotation was given as follows: "Before Wheeler saddles 
up [and U.S. Army goes in] try everything." The author is grateful to Army Historian Vincent 
Demma for pointing out that there is nothing in the notes on the meeting to support sug­
gestion that the phrase "saddles up" referred to Uie U.S. Army. Rather, it would appear that 
the President was speaking more generally about the use of U.S. forces. 



Vietnam: first, governmental instability in Saigon, and, second, 
continued reinforcement and direction of the insurgents by the 
North Vietnamese.67 "It is clear, however," the instructions stated, 
"that these factors are not of equal importance. There must be a 
stable, effective government to conduct a successful campaign 
against the Viet Cong even if the aid of North Vietnam for the VC 
should end. . . . Since action against North Vietnam is contribu­
tory, not central, we should not run the risks which are inherent in 
such an expansion of hostilities until there is a government in 
Saigon capable of handling the serious problems involved in such 
an expansion and of exploiting the favorable effects which can be 
anticipated from an end of support and direction by North Viet-
1131X1· 

The instructions went on to suggest "certain minimum criteria of 
performance in South Vietnam which must be met before new 
measures against North Vietnam would be either justified or prac­
ticable": 

At a minimum, the government should be able to speak for 
and to its people who will need guidance and leadership 
throughout the coming critical period. It should be capable of 
maintaining law and order in its principal centers of popula­
tion, make plans for the conduct of operations and assure their 
effective execution by military and police forces completely re­
sponsive to its authority. It must have the means to cope with 
the enemy reactions which must be expected to result from 
any change in the pattern of our operations. 

Taylor was also instructed to urge the South Vietnamese to con­
centrate their efforts on eight specific areas, which, the paper 
stated, were not only important for purposes of the pacification 
program, but could also serve as indices of the ability of the gov­
ernment to perform effectively: 

1. Improve the use of manpower for military and pacification 
purposes. 

2. Bring the armed forces and police to authorized strength 
and maximize their effectiveness. 

3. Replace incompetent officials and commanders. Freeze the 
competent in place for extended periods of service. 

4. Clarify and strengthen the police powers of arrest, deten­
tion and interrogation of VC suspects. 

5. Clarify and strengthen the authority of provincial chiefs. 
6. Make demonstrable progress in the Hop Tac operation 

around Saigon [a program to pacify an area in which the Com­
munists were well-entrenched].68 

·' The text of the President's instructions to Taylor is in the Johnson Library, NSF Interna­
tional Meetings and Travel File. Taylor presented a paper to the South Vietnamese which dif­
fered only slightly from the instructions. See PP, Gravel ed., vol. II, pp. 343-845. 

** Hop Tac (the words mean "cooperation") was a plan to pacify the seven provinces around 
Saigon, Dased on the spreading oil spot principle or concept which originated in the early 1960s 
during the administration of Presioient Kennedy. Under the plan, security would expand out­
wardly in concentric circles from a secure center (Saigon), as areas were cleared, secured, and 
then pacified. Once the South Vietnamese Army cleared an area, paramilitary forces would 
secure and hold it while the process of pacification was being completed by civic action teams, 
and the Army would move further out in an effort to search for and destroy Communist forces. 
(This was the origin of the term "search and destroy.") 

Continued 



7. Broaden and intensify the civic action program using both 
military and civilian resources to produce tangible evidence of 
the desire of the government to help the hamlets and villages. 

8. Carry out a sanitary clean-up of Saigon. 
Taylor was also instructed to tell the South Vietnamese that, 

"While progress is being made toward these goals by a government 
of growing effectiveness, the USG is willing to strike harder at the 
infiltration routes in Laos and at sea [Phase I]." In addition, during 
this time U.S. and South Vietnamese forces should be prepared for 
"prompt reprisals for any unusually hostile action." 

". . . after the GVN has shown itself firmly in control," the in­
structions continued, the U.S. was "prepared to consider a program 
of direct military pressure on the DRV as Phase II," consisting of a 
"series of air attacks on the DRV progressively mounting in scope 
of intensity for the purpose of convincing the leaders of DRV that 
it is to their interest to cease to aid the Viet Cong and to respect 
the independence and security of South Vietnam, properly assured 
by appropriate international safeguards." 

In a memorandum to Rusk, McNamara, and McCone on Decem­
ber 7, 1964, the President gave his formal approval to the new 
graduated pressure plan. He said that the Position Paper on 
Southeast Asia," together with the instructions to Ambassador 
Taylor, represented his "present position." He added: "I consider it 
a matter of the highest importance that the substance of this posi­
tion should not become public except as I specifically direct." 59 

On December 7, Ambassador Taylor, Gen. William C. Westmore­
land, Commander, U.S. Military Assistance Command, Vietnam 
(COMUSMACV) and U. Alexis Johnson, Deputy Ambassador, met 
with Creneral Khanh and the new South Vietnamese civilian lead­
ers, Premier Trm Van Huong and Deputy Premier Nguyen Luu 
Vien.80 Taylor presented the U.S. program, but the Vietnamese 
said they did not understand what was meant by "campaign 
against the Viet Cong" and by the phrase "to speak for and to its 
people." They also noted that the U.S. plan did not deal with the 
question of the use of Cambodia as a sanctuary by the Communists. 

The plan, proposed in July 1964 by Ambassador Lodge, was put into effect in September 1964 
according to a design developed by American military personnel. It was not well-received by the 
South Vietnamese, however, and by the summer of 1965, after numerous setbacks and very lim­
ited success, it had been "defeated" according to one analyst: "Security in Long An province 
[adjacent to and south of Saigon] was worse than it had been in 1964 when the program started. 
Bao Trai, the capitol of Hau Nghia province [west of Sagion], was virtually isolated; no roads 
were usable, even by day. The province was so dominated by the Viet Cong that they staged a 
victory parade in Cu Chi district in August 1965." James W. Dunn, "Province Advisers in Viet­
nam, 1962-1965," ch 1. in Richard A. Hunt and Richard H. Schultz, Jr., (eds.), Lemons from an 
Unconventional War (New York: Pergamon Press, 1982) pp. 1-23 at 17. 

See also PP, Gravel ed., vol. II, pp. 521-530, and Douglas S. Blaufarb, The Counterinsurgency 
Era (New York: PVee Press, 1977), pp. 222-223. 

19 Johnson Library, NSF International Meetings and Travel File. (The position paper, dated 
Dec. 2, 1964, was excised in part before being released, but it is a verbatim copy of the Bundy 
draft memorandum of November 30, the full text of which is in PP, Gravel ed., vol. ΙΠ, p. 678.) 
There was no NSAM1 apparently to help ensure the secrecy of the plan as well as to maintain 
greater Presidential flexibility. 

*° In October 1964, Khanh, who, since the problems of August-September 1964, had eased out 
his rivals—Khiem went to the U.S. as AmDassador and Minh was sent on a goodwill tour 
abroad—had arranged for the appointment of a civilian government consisting of Premier 
Huong, Deputy Premier Vien and Chief of State Phan Khac Suu, and a body of notables—the 
High National Council—to serve as a legislature. However, Khanh, as commander of the armed 
forces and the putative leader of the Revolutionary Military Council, continued to hold the reins 
of power. 



On December 9, the two groups met again, and Taylor gave the 
Vietnamese the text of a paper, "Actions Designed to Strengthen 
the Government of Vietnam," which contained the eight specific 
areas on which the U.S. wanted the South Vietnamese to concen­
trate. According to the Pentagon Papers, "The only decisions 
reached were for joint study and consultations. . . . This was the 
last time the USG tried to set GVN performance preconditions for 
U.S. force use and deployments. Its effect, if any, was the opposite 
of that intended." 61 

In the meeting on December 1 at which he approved the new 
plan, the President told Rusk and McNtimtira to inform selected 
Members of Congress of the decision. According to the notes of the 
meeting, they were to "give [Congress] good and bad; ask for sug­
gestions." 62 

Taylor also was asked by the President to "touch base with the 
Hill" before returning to Vietnam, and on December 3 he met in 
executive (closed) session with the Senate Foreign Relations Com­
mittee.63 He told the committee that officials of the executive 
branch generally agreed that the U.S. had to take action against 
North Vietnam at some stage, but that this should not be done 
when the South Vietnamese Government was as weak as it was at 
that time. Chairman J. Willisun Fulbright (D/Ark.) said he was 
willing to work with the existing South Vietnamese Government, 
but that if it fell he would not support a U.S. attack on the North 
as a way of compensating for weakness in the South. Taylor replied 
that he would accept a "military dictatorship" if it were necessary 
to achieve the governmental stability which the U.S. desired as a 
precondition for attacking the North. 

Fulbright and Frank Church (D/Idaho) expressed concern about 
major U.S. military involvement in the war. ". . . if you want to 
go to war," Fulbright said, "I don't approve of it. I don't give a 
damn what the provocation is. . . . I am not going to vote to send a 
hundred thousand men, or it would probably be 300,000 or 400,000. 
The French had 500,000." Taylor replied that the U.S. could attack 
the North from the air, "and let it go at that." Fulbright was skep­
tical: "Well, if it doesn't succeed—America never fails—once it en­
gages in that they will just go all out." 

In a memorandum to the President on December 9, 1964, Senate 
Majority Leader Mansfield also expressed concern about further 
U.S. involvement in the war, and urged the President to work 
toward a "peaceful unification" of all of Vietnam, North and 
South. "We remain on a course in Vietnam," he said, "which takes 
us further and further out on the sagging limb. . . ." 64 

61PP, Gravel ed., vol. •, p. 845, from Saigon to State 1746, Dec. 7, 1964, and 1763 and 1764, 
Dec. 9,1964. 

"2 Johnson Library, Meeting Notes File. 
" U.S. Congress, Senate, Committee on Foreign Relations, Executive Session» of the Senate 

Foreign Relations Committee Together With Joint Sessions With the Senate Armed Services Com­
mittee (Historical Series), 1964, vol. XVI (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Govt. Print. Off., 1988), pp. 364, 
369. 

'* Johnson Library, NSF Name File, Mansfield. For further details on Mansfield's memoran­
dum and the President's reply see pt. Π of this study, pp. 377-379. For a discussion of congres­
sional attitudes in early January 1966, see pp. 394-397. 



Phase I Begins as the South Vietnamese Political Situation Be­
comes More Critical 

On December 14, 1964, Phase I of the new U.S. graduated pres­
sure plan began amid hopes in Saigon and Washington that the po­
litical situation was improving and that the South Vietnamese 
Government would be able to implement U.S. preconditions for 
stronger military action. A few days later, however, Khanh and the 
"Young Turk" military officers on the Military Revolutionary 
CouncU,68 most of whom had supported Khanh during the politick 
crisis in September 1964, demanded that the civilian legislature, 
the High National Council, members of which had been chosen by 
Genertd Minh, dismiss General Minh as well as other leading offi­
cers who had been in the post-Diem junta. When they refused, 
Khanh and the Young Turks announced the abolition of the High 
National Council and arrested some of its members as well as other 
civilian leaders and some military officers, and placed Minh and 
four other generals in confinement. Premier Huong and Chief of 
State Phan Khac Suu were allowed to remain in their posts. The 
Military Revolutionary Council was replaced by an Armed Forces 
Council headed by Khanh.6 6 

The U.S. reacted sharply to these developments. On December 
20, Ambassador Taylor and Deputy Ambassador Johnson, who had 
urged Premier Huong not to yield to Khanh and the Young Turks, 
met with four of the Young Turks—Gen. Nguyen Van Thieu (com­
manding the Army in IV Corps), Air Vice Marshal Nguyen Cao Ky 
(commanding the Air Force), Rear Adm. Chung Tang Cang (chief of 
Naval Operations), and Gen. Nguyen Chanh Thi (who commanded I 
Corps forces in the predominantly Buddhist area around Hue, and 
was very popular with the Buddhists)—and lectured them on the 
need for political stability as a precondition for stronger U.S. mili­
tary action. Reminding the group that at a dinner at General West­
moreland's on December 8, at which the new U.S. plan was ex­
plained, he had told them that "we Americans were tired of 
coups," Taylor said, "Apparently I wasted my words. Maybe this is 
because something is wrong with my French because you evidently 
didn't understand. I made it clear that all the military plans which 
I know you would like to carry out are dependent on governmental 
stability. Now you have made a real mess. We cannot carry you 
forever if you do things like this." 67 

86 The term "Young Turks" was used in reference to the younger generals on the Council who 
were allied with Khanh. The group included Gens. Nguyen Van Thieu, Nguyen Cao Ky, Nguyen 
Chanh Thi, Le Nguyen Khang, and Nguyen Huu Co, and Adm. Chung Tang Cang. 

ββ The removal of Minh and other of the so-called "Dalat generals" of the post-Diem junta 
was part of a complicated scheme by the Young Turks to control Khanh, who in turn had appar­
ently been seeking to gain support from the Dalat generals in an effort to counter the rising 
power of the Young Turks. For more details, see the extensive reporting of the New York Times, 
as well as Robert Shaplen, The Lost Revolution (New York: Harper and Row, 1965); Stanley 
Karnow, Vietnam: A History (New York: Viking, 1983); Kahin, Intervention. 

67 Johnson Library, NSF Country File, Vietnam, "Summary of Conversation, Sunday, Decem­
ber 20," Saigon to State AIRGRAM A-493, Dec. 24, 1964. In his memoir, Swords and Plowshares, 
(p. 330), Taylor says that he and U. Alexis Johnson agreed on the response which should be 
made to the Young Turks, and that he decided to treat the generals "with calculated asperity." 

On Jan. 5, 1965, McGeorge Bundy sent the airgram to the President with a note saying, "I 
think you will want to read every word of this, and make up your own mind as to its implica­
tions." Johnson Library, NSF Country File, Vietnam. 



The response of Khanh and the Young Turks, after a meeting 
the next day between Taylor and Khanh, in which Taylor told 
Khanh that he had lost confidence in him and that he should leave 
office,88 was to defy Taylor and the Americans by demanding that 
Taylor leave Vietnam, to which the U.S. Embassy, after consulting 
with Washington, replied that this was tantamount to asking the 
U.S. to leave. 

On December 24, 1964, the Communists set off explosives at a 
U.S. officers' billet in Saigon which killed two and injured 38 other 
Americans and 13 Vietnamese. President Johnson was urged by 
Taylor, Westmoreland, CINCPAC and the JCS to retaliate against 
North Vietnam, but this was rejected. As the Pentagon Papers 
states: 69 

The immediate administration assessment was that under 
current political circumstances, neither the American public 
nor international opinion might believe that the VC had done 
it. Moreover, with clear evidence lacking, it was felt that a re­
prisal at this time might appear as though "we are trying to 
shoot our way out of an internal political crisis." Given the po­
litical disorder in Saigon, the administration believed "it would 
be hard for [the] American public to understand action to 
extend [the] war." 

On December 30, President Johnson sent a personal message to 
Ambassador Taylor in which he said, referring to the "continuing 
political turmoil in Saigon," that the "general confusion in South 
Vietnam makes me feel strongly that we are not in a position 
which justifies a policy of immediate reprisal." 70 The President, 
who had made the same point in earlier communications with 
Taylor, added that he could not understand why women and chil­
dren should remain in the "battle zone," and that his "readiness to 
authorize larger actions will be very much greater if we can 
remove the dependents and get ourselves into real fighting trim." 
He said, however, that he did not intend for that or other parts of 
his cable to be an order to Taylor. 

The President also told Taylor that he was reluctant to approve 
reprisal when, as in this instance, U.S. security appeared to be in­
adequate. 

The President added that he was ". . . worried, too, by our lack 
of progress in communicating sensitively and persuasively with the 
various groups in South Vietnam. I recognize the very great prob­
lems which we face in dealing with groups which are immature 
and often irresponsible. But I still do not feel that we are making 
the all-out effort of political persuasion which is called for." He 
said he wondered "whether we are making full use of the kind of 
Americans who have shown a knack for this kind of communica­
tion in the past. . . men who are skillful with Vietnamese, even if 

68 Taylor, Swords and Plowshares, p. 331. 
ββ PP, Gravel ed., vol. Ill, p. 262. 
70 Johnson Library, NSF NSC History, Deployment of Forces, CAP 6435 from the President to 

Taylor, Dec. 30,1964. 



they are not always the easiest men to handle in a country 
team." 71 

The President also emphasized again his feeling that the war 
had to be fought on the ground and could not be won through air 
power alone: 

Every time I get a military recommendation it seems to me 
that it calk for large-scale bombing: I have never felt that this 
war will be won from the air, and it seems to me that what is 
much more needed and would be more effective is a larger and 
stronger use of Rangers and Special Forces and Marines, or 
other appropriate military strength on the ground and on the 
scene. I am ready to look with great favor on that kind of in­
creased American effort, directed at the guerrillas and aimed 
to stiffen the aggressiveness of Vietnamese military units up 
and down the line. Any recommendation that you or General 
Westmoreland make in this sense will have immediate atten­
tion from me, although I know that it may involve the accept­
ance of larger American sacrifices. We have been building our 
strength to fight his kind of war ever since 1961, and I myself 
am ready to substantially increase the number of Americans in 
Vietnam if it is necessary to provide this kind of fighting force 
against the Viet Cong. 

In conclusion, the President told Taylor, "If you can give me 
either progress or persuasive arguments on these matters [evacu­
ation of dependents, better security, building better political rela­
tions, increased use of ground units], I would look with favor on the 
execution of immediate and automatic reprisal . . . in the event of 
further attacks." 

On January 6, 1965, Taylor, with the concurrence of U. Alexis 
Johnson and Westmoreland, replied to the President's cable of De­
cember 30.72 ". . . we are presently on a losing track," Taylor said, 
"and must risk a change. . . . To take no positive action now is to 
accept defeat in the fairly near future." After describing the situa­
tion and discussing the basic historical factors which were "respon­
sible" for the "turmoil" in South Vietnam, Taylor, alluding to the 
President's proposal for using Americans who were skilled in deal­
ing with the Vietnamese, added: "Perhaps other Americans might 
marginally influence them [factors responsible for the turmoil] 
more effectively but generally speaking we Americans are not 
going to change them in any fundamental way in any measurable 
time. We can only recognize their existence and adjust our plans 
and expectations accordingly." There are, he said, "some things we 
clearly cannot do—change national characteristics, create leader­
ship where it does not exist, raise large additional GVN forces or 
seal porous frontiers to infiltration . . . in the time available we 
cannot expect anything better than marginal government and mar-

71 McGeorge Bundy edited the cable (the edited version is in the same location as the cable), 
inserting the words men who are skillful with Vietnamese" in place of the words "of the gener­
al type of [Edward G.] Lansdale and [Lucien] Conein" in the original draft. Lansdale and Conein 
were CIA agents (Lansdale was technically in the Air Force) who had worked extensively with 
the South Vietnamese since the early 1950s. In December 1964, Lansdale, who had retired as a 
mtyor general from the Air Force in the fall of 1963, was a consultant to the White House Food 
for Peace program. 

72 Same location, Saigon to Washington 2052 and 2055-2058 (a four-section message), Jan. 6, 
1965. For a more complete discussion of the cable see pt. Π of this study, pp. 387-389. 



ginal pacification progress with continued decline of national 
morale—unless something new is added to make up for those 
things we cannot control.' 

They recommended giving the Government of South Vietnam a 
"conditional commitment" that if it reached a "certain level of per­
formance" the U.S. would then conduct reprisal attacks against 
North Vietnam. Such attacks, the cable said, would stimulate fur­
ther improvements in the South Vietnamese Government and in 
the unification of the armed forces and thereby set the stage for 
Phase II actions. 

The cable added that the U.S. "should look for an occasion" for 
reprisals "just as soon as we have satisfactorily compromised the 
current political situation in Saigon and set up a minimal govern­
ment. . . ." Then, "At the proper time, we can set the stage for 
[Phase H] action by exposing to the [U.S.] public our case against 
infiltration, and by initiating aggressive DE SOTO patrols, and 
when the U.S. decided to move into Phase II, "we can justify that 
decision on the basis of infiltration, of VC terrorism, of attacks on 
DE SOTO patrols or any combination of the three." 

Taylor said he agreed with the President that the war against 
the guerrillas in South Vietnam could not be won by air power, but 
he conceived of the use of airpower in Phase II as being a way of 
bringing pressure on the North Vietnamese who, as "practical men 
. . . cannot wish to see the fruits of ten years of labor destroyed by 
slowly escalating air attacks (which they cannot prevent) without 
trying to find some accommodations which will excise the threat." 

With respect to the use of U.S. ground forces, Taylor said he con­
curred with Westmoreland's position, which was stated in a portion 
of the cable prepared by Westmoreland and his staff, as follows: 

. . . after much soul searching we have reluctantly conclud­
ed that their [U.S. ground forces] military value would be more 
than offset by their political liability. The Vietnamese have the 
manpower and the basic skills to win this war. What they lack 
is motivation. The entire advisory effort has been devoted to 
giving them both skill and motivation. If that effort has not 
succeeded there is less reason to think that U.S. combat forces 
would have the desired effect. In fact, there is good reason to 
believe that they would have the opposite effect by causing 
some Vietnamese to let the U.S. carry the burden while others, 
probably the majority, would actively turn against us. Thus 
intervention with ground combat forces would at best buy time 
and would lead to ever increasing commitments until, like the 
French, we would be occupying an essentially hostile foreign 
country. 

During early January 1965 there was increasing concern among 
U.S. policymakers about the growing military and political 
strength of the Communists. In a battle at Binh Gia between De­
cember 26 and January 2, well-armed and well-trained South Viet­
namese Army units, supported by considerable American advice 
and assistance, were badly defeated. 

On January 15, the ClA concluded that the National Front for 
the Liberation of South Vietnam, which had been organized in 
1960 in opposition to the government of Ngo Dinh Diem, and was 
controlled by the Communists, ". . . had extended its influence if 



not its control, into nearly every corner of South Vietnam." 73 The 
Front claimed to control three-quarters of the country and eight of 
the fourteen million people. "Outside of large urban centers such 
as Saigon and Hue," the report said, "and those provincial strong-
points manned by the South Vietnamese Army, the Viet Cong 
roam the countryside more or less at will. With the faltering of the 
GVN's strategic hamlet program, many areas considered cleared of 
Viet Cong a year ago have been lost or are subjected to constant 
guerrilla pressure. . . . There are no indications that the govern­
ment in Saigon will be able in the near future to counter effective­
ly the steady increase in VC-controlled territory, and therefore the 
Front's influence and control seem bound to grow." 

In response to these and related developments, the U.S. Army 
undertook a study of ways to improve military operations in South 
Vietnam. A directive on January 15 from the Deputy Chief of Staff 
for Military Operations (DCSOPS) stated that in the study, which 
had been requested by the Chief of Staff of the Army, Gen. Harold 
K. Johnson, ". . . emphasis is to be placed on military objectives, 
missions, policies, and operations. We want to know if all the 
things we are doing really contribute to attaining the military ob­
jective and what else we can do and should do. 74 The directive 
added: "We realize that solution to the overall problem involves 
more than a military effort (i.e., political, psychological, sociologi­
cal, economic), but no progress in the other fields is likely without 
progress in the military field—defeat of the Viet Cong." 

The directive also stated: "A quick solution to the South Viet­
namese problem is extremely unlikely though desirable. Therefore, 
we must assume that the involvement in RVN [Republic of Viet­
nam] may last as long as 10 years. Our actions should recognize 
this possibility." 

The resulting 114-page study, "Analysis of the Military Effort in 
South Vietnam," which was completed in March 1965, found that 
Communist forces were increasing in size, strength and effective­
ness, that South Vietnamese forces lacked leadership and the will 
to fight, and that pacification was lagging except in the Hop Tac 
area around Saigon.75 

Overall, the study concluded, "there has been no significant im­
provement in the military situation. Because of continued political 
instability at national level and the condensation [sic] of pacifica-

78 U.S. Central Intelligence Agency, Central File, Special Report, "The Communist Liberation 
Front in South Vietnam—A Progress Report," SC No. 00653/65C, Jan. 15, 1965. TTiere is no indi­
cation as to which office of the CIA prepared the report. 

74 U.S. Department of the Army, Center of Militapr History (hereafter referred to as CMH), 
Memorandum from the Deputy Chief of Staif for Military Operations, "Analysis of the Military 
Effort in South Vietnam," with attached outline, Jan. 15,1965. 

The outline included these objectives: 
"a. U.S. Objective. The U.S. objective in South Vietnam is to re-establish an independent and 

secure South Vietnam with appropriate international safeguards, including the freedom to 
accept U.S. and other external assistance as required. Attainment of this objective involves ac­
tivities in five fields—sociological, political, economic, psychological, and military. . . . 

"b. Military Objectives. From the overall objective this military objective can be derived: To 
destroy the Viet Cong and/or his will to fight and to provide security for the country. This, 
then, becomes the primary mission of the Republic of Vietnam Armed Forces (RVNAF). U.S. 
policy is that the Vietnamese should fight their own war with advice, assistance and support 
from us. Therefore, the U.S. military role in South Vietnam is to advise, assist and support the 
RVNAF in their fight against the Viet Cong." 

75 A copy of the study, which is not dated, is in CMH. For a description of Hop Tac, see p. 21 
above. 



tion effort, the RVN [Republic of Vietnam—South Vietnam] gave 
ground to the VC [Viet Cong] pressures almost universally. With 
the exception of the priority 'Hop Tac' area where the GVN [Gov­
ernment of Vietnam] maintained the initiative, the status quo has 
not been maintained." 

The study began with a description of the enemy situation. It es­
timated the number of Communist forces in the South at about 
33,000 full-time regular forces—compared to 10,000 in 1960—and 
60-80,000 part-time irregular forces. Infiltration of personnel from 
the North, it said, was higher in 1964 than in any other previous 
year with the possible exception of 1962, and almost twice that of 
1963. For the first time, ethnic North Vietnamese were coming 
across the border. 

Although the Communists were still fighting a guerrilla war, and 
would not attempt conventional warfare "unless they are dissatis­
fied with the results of their present activities, and they have little 
reason to feel dissatisfied as yet," they were more capable than 
previously of conducting conventional warfare. This was demon­
strated at the battle of Binh Gia in early January 1965, when Com­
munist forces remained in the village for several days and held 
parts of it against sustained attack by South Vietnamese forces. 

The South Vietnamese Army, by contrast, while it could main­
tain the security of urban areas and lines of communication, "has 
been unable to overcome the VC efforts in subversion, terrorism 
and guerrilla warfare, nor has it provided adequate, country-wide 
security." "The principal weakness," the study continued, seems 
to be in small unit tactics, scouting and patrolling, collection and 
processing of intelligence." 

The pattern of military operations during 1964 has been one 
of reaction to VC activities rather than ARVN initiative. The 
RVNAF have not completely followed the principle of offensive 
action. In order to find, fix and fight the VC, ARVN must find 
the enemy and aggressively follow through. Since VC use the 
night for movement and relocation, ARVN should use more ag­
gressive patrolling to force the VC to stay on the move and off 
balance. Constant movement of company and battalion size 
regular units at night could instill more initiative and aggres­
siveness in the ARVN clearing operations. Once the enemy has 
been located either through ARVN initiative, or as a result of 
VC attack, the pattern of ARVN operations has been charac­
terized by slow reaction, piecemeal commitment, and seldom 
have [there been] sufficient forces at the critical point to bring 
about decisive and successful defeats of VC elements. When on 
rare occasions initiative was employed and aggressive follow-up 
continued, ARVN was able to defeat the VC decisively. 

The study was critical of large sweep operations, which "produce 
negligible results," but it said that the concept of search and de­
stroy operations using helicopter-borne infantry units as quick re­
action forces had been a success.76 

At that time (early 1965) the term "search and destroy" was used in connection with the 
design for the Hop Tac pacification program to describe the operations which would be carried 
out by South Vietnamese forces as they cleared areas previously controlled by the Communists. 
Only later was it used to refer to the lmrge sweeps conducted by U.S. forces. 



With respect to intelligence operations, the study stated that be­
cause of weaknesses in South Vietnam's intelligence and counterin­
telligence, "The Viet Cong regularly demonstrate detailed knowl­
edge of both short and long term Government of Vietnam (GVN) 
operational plans, often in sufficient time to prepare relatively 
complex countermeasures. . . . Directives and plans are routinely 
compromised." "Improvements in GVN security procedures, par­
ticularly communications security must be made; otherwise there 
can be no hope of establishing a consistent pattern of successful op­
erations against the Viet Cong." 

Although there had been little progress in pacification, the study 
concluded that the concepts on which Hop Tac was based were 
sound and that better management was needed of the securing and 
pacifying of cleared areas. Rather than switching from military to 
civilian management after an area was cleared, it would be more 
effective to maintain military management and to resume civilian 
control once an area was "completely secure." Accordingly, the 
study proposed that the U.S. Military Command in South Vietnam 
should be made responsible for the direction "of all aspects of the 
clearing and securing phase of pacification." (This was carried out 
in 1967, when responsibility for pacification was removed from ci­
vilian control and given to MACV.) 

Looking ahead to similar situations in other parts of the world, 
the report also recommended that a plan be developed by the staff 
of the Army "to establish Eind maintain an effective capability 
within the Army to advise and assist friendly foreign governments 
in counterinsurgency pacification operations. . . ." 

The study also discussed "Special Operations"—covert activities 
conducted by the South Vietnamese and the U.S. against North 
Vietnam since the beginning of 1964. These were the 34-A oper­
ations, which included MAROPS (maritime operations—attacks on 
the North Vietniimese coast), behind the lines military teams 
which were airdropped in North Vietnam, and propaganda oper­
ations. In addition, special operations included YANKEE TEAM 
tactical air reconnaissance flights by the U.S. Air Force and Navy 
over Laos, and BARREL ROLL, which involved U.S. armed recon­
naissance and airstrikes in Laos against Communist forces. 

According to the study, "the material effectiveness of [34-A] oper­
ations has been marginal," but from a psychological standpoint all 
of the 34-A operations had been useful, "especially in signalling to 
the DRV [Democratic Republic of Vietnam—North Vietnam] that 
they are not completely immune to military and political retaliato­
ry actions." 77 

The study noted that two of the activities which had been re­
quested in the original plan in January 1964 had never been car­
ried out—covert airstrikes by the South Vietnamese Air Force 
against military targets in the southern part of North Vietnam, 
and the organization and development of organized resistance 

77 The study said that MAROPS had been the most successful 34-A operation, and had caused 
the North Vietnamese to have to strengthen their coastal defenses and naval forces. Behind-the-
lines teams, however, had suffered a 50 percent loss, and had conducted only three sabotage 
missions. Propaganda activities were considered to be useful by "causing concern and are prob­
ably planting the seeds of doubt and dissension which can be germinated over a longer period of 
time.' 



groups in North Vietnam, "under the mantle of 'Liberation 
Party'"—and it recommended that both activities be authorized. 

Finally, the study concluded that in order to improve the coun-
terinsurgency program, the U.S. needed to find better ways of moti­
vating the Vietnamese: 

If there is a basic weakness in the conduct of the U.S. coun-
terinsurgency effort in SVN it stems primarily from failure to 
recognize the fundamental weaknesses and strengths of the Vi­
etnamese people as measured by our standards and the pecu­
liar workings of the oriental mind. The RVN military inher­
ently have the same capabilities as the Viet Cong. Utilization 
of these capabilities is dependent upon motivation, training 
and leadership. The leadership potential is present; training is 
a matter of time, tools and the capability of U.S. training advi­
sors; motivation is a matter of appreciation of the oriental 
mind and an understanding of the peculiar sense of values by 
which the RVN govern their efforts. It is the intangible ele­
ment of motivation that seems to elude solution. It has puzzled 
Westerners for years and major effort has been expended 
searching for solutions. We must continue to pursue this prob­
lem and orient the training of U.S. advisors to cope with and 
to capitalize on those forces that motivate the RVN leadership 
at each echelon of the military and the governmental organiza­
tion.78 

By the time this report was completed, however, it had been 
overtaken by events. The first U.S. combat forces had been de­
ployed in Vietnam, and, as will be seen, Greneral Westmoreland, 
having been told by the President that there was no limitation on 
funds, materiel or manpower, had requested deployment of addi­
tional U.S. forces. 

January 1965: The President and His Advisers Ponder Phase II 
When Taylor's January 6 cable was received, the President met 

that day with his advisers to discuss the situation. In advance of 
the meeting, William Bundy prepared a memorandum on January 
6 for Rusk, which he said represented also the views of his deputy 
for Southeast Asia, Leonard Unger, as well as those of Michael 
Forrestal, head of the Vietnam Coordinating Committee, recom­
mending that the U.S. take stronger action against North Viet­
nam.79 "I think we must accept," the memorandum said, "that 
Saigon morale in all quarters is now very shaky indeed, and that 
this relates directly to a widespread feeling that the U.S. is not 
ready for stronger action and indeed is possibly looking for a way 
out. "The blunt fact," he added, "is that we have appeared to the 

78 On Feb. 1, 1965, Gen. William E. DePuy1 who was Westmoreland's J-3 (Operations), sent 
Westmoreland a three-page, sinele-epaced memorandum on "Motivation" (a copy is in the file at 
CMH), in which he said, The longer we observe the situation in South Vietnam the more we 
come to believe that motivation is the key to success or the cauee of failure." Pointing out that 
the Communists placed great emphasis on indoctrinating their forces, he concluded, . . . it is 
our conviction in J-S that unless we devise a system whereby we can go into the minds of every 
member of the RVNAF and eventually through them and other public officials into the minds of 
all of the effective leadershp of the country, and lead them into a conviction that the govern­
ment can and must win for good and logical reasons, we will have no chance in the long run of 
seeing any return on our very extensive investment. 

19 U.S. Department of State, Lot File 85 D 240 (William Bundy Papers). 



Vietnamese (and to wide circles in Asia and even in Europe) to be 
insisting on a more perfect government than can reasonably be ex­
pected, before we consider any additional action—and that we 
might even pull out our support unless such a government 
emerges." By the same token, Bundy argued, the North Vietnam­
ese were "extremely confident." His prognosis was that "the situa­
tion in Vietnam is now likely to come apart more rapidly than we 
had anticipated in November." 

The alternative of stronger action, Bundy said, would present 
"grave difficulties": "It commits the U.S. more deeply, at a time 
when the picture of South Vietnamese will is extremely weak. To 
the extent that it included actions against North Vietnam, it would 
be vigorously attacked by many nations and disapproved initially 
even by such nations as Japan and India, on present indications. 
Most basically, its stiffening effect on the Saigon political situation 
would not be at all sure to bring about a more effective govern­
ment, nor would limited actions against the southern DRV [against 
infiltration routes] in fact sharply reduce infiltration or, in present 
circumstances, be at all likely to induce Hanoi to call it off." 

Stronger actions, however, would ". . . have some faint hope of 
really improving the Vietnamese situations, and, above all, would 
put us in a much stronger position to hold the next line of defense, 
namely Thailand." 

There were, William Bundy said, three actions that the U.S. 
could take in the near future: low-level armed reconnaissance of 
the North beginning immediately, and, on an "early occasion," re­
prisal attacks. Concurrently, U.S. dependents would be evacuated. 
But these actions, Bundy said, would hasten the deterioration of 
the situation in Saigon unless they were taken in the context of 
stronger actions, and he said that "to many of us" the deployment 
of limited U.S. ground forces into the northern part of South Viet­
nam at the time when air attacks on the North were begun "still 
has great appeal." "It would have a real stiffening effect in Saigon, 
and a strong signal effect to Hanoi." "On the disadvantage side," 
he added, "such forces would be possible attrition targets for the 
Viet Cong." 80 

Also on January 6, prior to the meeting, NSC staff member Ches­
ter L. Cooper (formerly with the CIA), who had long experience in 
dealing with Vietnam, sent McGeorge Bundy a memorandum 81 in 
which he argued that there was a risk of "greatly expanded hostil­
ities" if the U.S. bombed the North, as well as a "considerable 
risk" that such bombing would not be effective in persuading the 
North Vietnamese to cease supporting the insurgency or to negoti­
ate. Military victories in the South, he said, would be more persua­
sive and less risky. He recommended that rather than continuing 
to provide advice, U.S. military personnel should become more in­
volved in the conduct of military operations in the South: "What is 

80 In a draft on Jan. 4, 1965, McNaughtonl observing that the U.S. had two stakes in South 
Vietnam: "(a) Buffer real estate near Thailand and Malaysia, and (b) Our reputation," and that 
the latter was more important than the former, said that he favored evacuation of dependents 
and reprisals against the North, but he was opposed to increasing the number of U.S. forces in 
Vietnam, which were "as likely to be counterproductive as productive." For the text of his draft 
see PP, Gravel ed., vol. Ill, pp. 683-684. 

81 Johnson Library, NSF Country File, Vietnam, "Vietnam Today and Tomorrow." 


